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THIS MANDATORY OFFER DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

The definitions commencing on page 6 apply throughout this Circular including this front cover.

Action required

1.	 This entire Circular is important and should be read with particular attention to the section entitled “Actions required by Montauk Shareholders” on 
page 3.

2.	 If you have disposed of all of your Montauk Shares, this Circular should be handed to the purchaser of such Montauk Shares or to the Broker, CSDP, 
banker, attorney or other agent through whom the disposal was effected.

3.	 Montauk Shareholders are referred to page 3, which sets out the actions required by them.

4.	 If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take arising from this Circular, please consult your Broker, CSDP, banker, attorney, accountant or 
other professional adviser immediately.

Montauk, the Consortium, the Offeror and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries do not accept responsibility, and will not be held liable, 
for any action of, or omission by, any CSDP or Broker including, without limitation, any failure on the part of the CSDP or Broker 
of any beneficial owner of Montauk Shares to notify such beneficial owner of the Mandatory Offer set out in this Circular.

Montauk Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2010/17811/06)
(Previously HCI International Holdings Limited and Elgabrite Proprietary Limited)

Share code: MNK      ISIN: ZAE000197455

JOINT OFFEROR AND OFFEREE CIRCULAR TO MONTAUK SHAREHOLDERS
regarding:

–– a Mandatory Offer by the Consortium, acting through their Nominated Entity, to Montauk Shareholders  
to acquire all of the Montauk Shares that the Consortium does not already own, for a cash consideration of 
320 cents for each Montauk Share disposed of in terms of the Mandatory Offer;

and incorporating:

–– a Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) for use by Montauk Shareholders who wish to accept the 
Mandatory Offer;

–– a report prepared by the Independent Expert in terms of section 114(3) of the Companies Act;

–– the Independent Board’s opinion and recommendation in relation to the Mandatory Offer; and

–– extracts of the audited consolidated financial information of Montauk for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 
31 March 2014, and the unaudited condensed interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2014.

Mandatory Offer opens at 09:00 on Thursday, 26 March 2015
Mandatory Offer closes at 12:00 on Friday, 15 May 2015

Investment bank Legal advisers

Sponsor Independent Expert

Date of issue: 25 March 2015
This Circular is available in English only and copies hereof may be obtained from the registered offices of Montauk and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries whose 
registered addresses are set out in the “Corporate information and advisers” section of this Circular, during normal business hours on Business Days from the Opening 
Date to the Closing Date, both days inclusive.
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Offeree Company

Montauk Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2010/17811/06)
(Previously HCI International Holdings Limited and Elgabrite 
Proprietary Limited)
Suite 801
76 Regent Road
Seapoint
Cape Town, 8005
(PO Box 5251, Cape Town, 8000)

Date of incorporation

31 August 2010

Place of incorporation

Republic of South Africa

Directors of Montauk

J A Copelyn* (Chairman)
D R Herrman (Chief Executive Officer)
S F McClain (Chief Financial Officer)
M H Ahmed**

M A Jacobson*

N B Jappie**

B S Raynor**

A van der Veen*

* Non-executive directors
** Independent non-executive directors

The Independent Board of Montauk consists of:
M H Ahmed
N B Jappie
B S Raynor

Company secretary and registered office of 
Montauk

HCI Managerial Services Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 1996/017874/07)
Suite 801
76 Regent Road
Seapoint
Cape Town, 8005
(PO Box 5251, Cape Town, 8000)

Independent Expert

BDO Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 1983/002903/07)
22 Wellington Road
Parktown, 2193
(Private Bag X60500, Houghton, 2041)

Offeror

The Consortium, which is making the Mandatory Offer 
through its Nominated Entity:

HCI Invest17 Holdco Proprietary Limited

(Registration number 2014/146245/07)

Directors of the Nominated Entity

J A Copelyn
T G Govender

The Consortium
J A Copelyn
M A Jacobson
J R Nicolella
Y Shaik
A van der Veen
Chearsley
Circumference
The Corjo Trust
Majorshelf
Nport
Rivetprops

The Consortium is making the Mandatory Offer 
through the Nominated Entity.

Investment bank and Sponsor

Investec Bank Limited
(Registration number 1969/004763/06)
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown
Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 785700, Sandton, 2146)

Legal Advisers

Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc.
(Registration number 2006/018200/21)
1 North Wharf Square
Loop Street
Foreshore
Cape Town, 8001
(PO Box 2293, Cape Town, 8000)

Transfer Secretaries to Montauk

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
(Registration number 2004/003647/07)
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND ADVISERS
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

FOREIGN SHAREHOLDERS

This Circular has been prepared for the purposes of complying with the Companies Act and the Takeover Regulations 
published in terms thereof. The information disclosed may not be the same as that which would have been disclosed if this 
Circular had been prepared in accordance with the laws and regulations of any jurisdiction outside of South Africa. 
The release, publication or distribution of this Circular in jurisdictions other than South Africa may be restricted by law and 
therefore any persons who are subject to the laws of any jurisdiction other than South Africa should inform themselves 
about, and observe, any applicable requirements. Any failure to comply with the applicable requirements may constitute a 
violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. This Circular is not intended to, and does not constitute, or form 
part of, an offer to sell or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for any securities or a solicitation of any vote or approval in 
any foreign jurisdiction. This Circular does not constitute a prospectus or a prospectus equivalent document. Montauk 
Shareholders are advised to read this Circular, which contains the full terms and conditions of the Mandatory Offer with care. 
Any decision to accept the Mandatory Offer should be made only on the basis of the information in this Circular.
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ACTION REQUIRED BY MONTAUK SHAREHOLDERS

Please take careful note of the following provisions regarding the actions required by Montauk 
Shareholders:

•	 If you have disposed of all of your Montauk Shares, this Circular should be handed to the purchaser of such Montauk 
Shares or to the Broker, CSDP, banker, attorney or other agent through whom the disposal was effected.

•	 If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take arising from this Circular, please consult your Broker, CSDP, 
banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser.

1.	 MONTAUK SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING THEIR OWN SHARE CERTIFICATES

Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who wish to accept the Mandatory Offer must complete 
the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) attached to this Mandatory Offer Document in accordance 
with the instructions therein. The completed Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) must be forwarded, 
together with the relevant share certificates, by hand or by mail to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries as follows:

By hand

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001

By mail

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61763
Marshalltown
2107

so as to be received by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries by no later than 12:00 on the Closing Date.

2.	 MONTAUK SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE SHARES ARE HELD BY THEIR CSDPs OR BROKERS 
AS NOMINEES IN DEMATERIALISED FORM

2.1	 If you are a Dematerialised Montauk Shareholder, you will be contacted by your duly appointed CSDP or 
Broker in the manner stipulated in the custody agreement entered into between you and your CSDP or 
Broker, as the case may be, in order to ascertain whether or not you wish to accept the Mandatory Offer. 
If you wish to accept the Offer, you must notify your CSDP or Broker of your acceptance of the Mandatory 
Offer in the time and manner stipulated in the custody agreement entered into between you and your CSDP 
or Broker, as the case may be.

2.2	 If Montauk Shareholders wish to accept the Mandatory Offer but have not been contacted by their CSDP or 
Broker, they should contact and furnish the CSDP or Broker with instructions regarding the acceptance of the 
Mandatory Offer. These instructions must be provided in the manner and by the cut-off date and time advised 
by the CSDP or Broker in terms of the custody agreement and must be communicated to the Montauk 
Transfer Secretaries, details of whom are set out above, by no later than 12:00 on the Closing Date.

2.3	 You must NOT complete the attached Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue).

2.4	 If you notify your CSDP or Broker of your desire to accept the Mandatory Offer, you will NOT be able to 
trade your Montauk Shares from the date on which you notify your CSDP or Broker of your acceptance of 
the Mandatory Offer.

2.5	 The Consortium, the Offeror, Montauk, and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries take no responsibility and will 
not be held liable for any failure on the part of any CSDP or Broker to notify a Montauk Shareholder of the 
Mandatory Offer and/or to obtain instructions from a Montauk Shareholder and submit acceptances timeously 
to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries.

3.	 GENERAL

3.1	 Acceptances of the Mandatory Offer that are sent through the post are sent at the risk of the Montauk 
Shareholder concerned. Accordingly, Montauk Shareholders should take note of the postal delivery times so 
as to ensure that acceptances of the Mandatory Offer are received timeously. It is therefore recommended 
that such acceptances be sent by registered mail or be delivered by hand to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries.
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3.2	 Unless otherwise permitted by law, and in the sole discretion of the Offeror, purported acceptances will not 
be considered valid if given from within any foreign jurisdiction where the release, publication or distribution 
of this Circular may be restricted by law.

3.3	 Payment of the Offer Consideration will be made on the first Monday, or first Business Day thereafter if such 
Monday is not a Business Day, following acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, provided that the acceptance is 
received by the Transfer Secretaries before 12:00 on the Friday or last Business Day preceding the date of 
payment.  Payment of the Offer Consideration in respect of acceptances received on the Closing Date, will be 
made on Monday, 18 May 2015.

3.4	 If any person who is not a registered holder of Montauk Shares surrenders a share certificate in respect of 
Montauk Shares, together with a transfer form for the registration of such Montauk Shares purporting to have 
been properly completed by the registered holder thereof, such first mentioned person shall be entitled to 
receive payment of the Offer Consideration pursuant to acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, provided that:

–– such person proves to the satisfaction of the Offeror that the relevant securities transfer tax payable has in 
fact been paid in respect of the proposed registration of transfer of such Montauk Shares; and

–– the Offer Consideration has not already been delivered or posted to the registered holder of such Montauk 
Shares.

The Offeror and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries may require, in their sole discretion, to be furnished by such 
person with an indemnity, in a form and on terms acceptable to the Offeror, the Montauk Transfer Secretaries 
and Montauk, against any loss or damage, payment or expense which they, or any of their duly authorised 
representatives, may suffer or incur by reason of or arising from the payment of the Offer Consideration to 
such person.

3.5	 If a Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) is rejected due to non-compliance with the instructions 
contained therein, then the Montauk Shareholder concerned will be deemed not to have accepted the 
Mandatory Offer. The Offeror may nevertheless, in its sole discretion, condone such non-compliance as well 
as any other non-compliance by any Montauk Shareholder of any of the other terms and conditions of the 
Mandatory Offer.

3.6	 Offer Participants should note that once they have accepted the Montauk Offer, they may NOT trade any 
Montauk Shares in respect of which the Mandatory Offer has been accepted.

3.7	 For the sake of clarity, Offer Participants may not, after acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, instruct any CSDP 
or Broker to hold their Montauk Shares as nominees on their behalf or, where such shares are already held by 
the CSDP or Broker as nominee, request the CSDP or Broker to release the Montauk Shares in respect of 
which the Mandatory Offer has been accepted.

3.8	 Montauk Shareholders who do not wish to accept the Mandatory Offer need not take any action and may deal 
with their Montauk Shares as they deem fit.

3.9	 Montauk Shareholders are entitled to accept the Mandatory Offer in whole or in part.

3.10	 This Mandatory Offer shall not constitute an offer to purchase or the solicitation of an offer to sell any Montauk 
Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to the registration or 
qualification under the laws of such jurisdiction.

3.11	 If you are a Foreign Shareholder and you are in doubt about your position, you should consult your professional 
adviser in the relevant jurisdiction.
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IMPORTANT DATES AND TIMES

2015

Posting date for the combined Offeror and Offeree Circular to Montauk 
Shareholders on Wednesday, 25 March

Opening date of the Mandatory Offer at 09:00 on Thursday, 26 March

Last date to trade in order to participate in the Mandatory Offer on Friday, 8 May

Montauk Shares acquired from this date are no longer able to participate in the 
Mandatory Offer Monday, 11 May

Record date, being the final date upon which Montauk Shareholders 	
must be recorded in the register in order to be eligible to accept the 	
Mandatory Offer on Friday, 15 May

Closing Date of the Mandatory Offer at 12:00 on Friday, 15 May

Results of the Mandatory Offer announced on SENS on Monday, 18 May

Results of the Mandatory Offer published in the press on Tuesday, 19 May

Offer Consideration posted to Offer Participants (once Documents of Title 	
have been received) on

The first Monday following the 
acceptance of the Mandatory Offer (or 

first Business Day thereafter, if such a 
Monday is not a Business Day), in 

compliance with Companies 	
Regulation 102(12)

Notes:

1.	 The above dates and times are subject to amendment at the discretion of the Offeror, subject to prior written approval from the Takeover 
Regulation Panel being obtained. Any such amendment will be released on SENS and published in the South African press.

2.	 Certificated Montauk Shareholders are required to indicate their acceptance of the offer in accordance with the instructions contained in this 
Mandatory Offer Document, to be received by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries by no later than 12:00 on the Closing Date.

3.	 Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or Brokers as nominee are required to notify their duly appointed CSDP 
or Broker timeously of their intention to accept the Mandatory Offer in the manner and time stipulated in the custody agreement governing the 
relationship between the Montauk Shareholder and the CSDP or Broker.

4.	 In the case of Certificated Montauk Shareholders who have accepted the Mandatory Offer and who have surrendered their Documents of Title, 
payment of the Offer Consideration will be made by cheque or deposited directly into each such Montauk Shareholder’s bank account, whichever 
a Montauk Shareholder may instruct, at the risk of the Montauk Shareholder concerned.

5.	 In the case of Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or Brokers as nominee, payment of the Offer Consideration 
will be made by crediting their accounts at the CSDP or Broker, as the case may be, in accordance with the custody agreement governing the 
relationship between the Montauk Shareholder and the CSDP or Broker concerned.

6.	 All dates and times indicated above are South African dates and times.
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DEFINITIONS

In this Circular, the annexures and the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) attached hereto, unless otherwise 
stated or clearly indicated by the context, the words in the first column have the meanings stated opposite them in the 
second column, words in the singular include the plural and vice versa, words importing one gender include the other genders 
and references to a person include references to a body corporate and vice versa:

“Broker” any person registered as a “broking member (equities)” in accordance with the provisions 
of the Financial Markets Act;

“Business Day” a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or official public holiday in South Africa;

“cents” South African cents in the official currency of South Africa;

“Certificated Montauk Share” a Montauk Share, which has not been Dematerialised, and title to which is evidenced by 
Documents of Title;

“Certificated Montauk 
Shareholder”

a Montauk Shareholder who holds Certificated Montauk Shares;

“Chearsley” Chearsley Investments Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2003/006544/07), a 
private company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company 
laws of South Africa, and a member of the Consortium, as set out in paragraphs 1.9.1 
and 1.9.2;

“Circumference” Circumference Investments Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2003/006544/07), 
a private company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company 
laws of South Africa, and a member of the Consortium. Circumference is 55% owned 
by Rivetprops, which is in turn owned by The Corjo Trust, and 45% owned by Geomer 
Investments Proprietary Limited, which is in turn owned by the Geomer Trust, a family 
trust of Mr Golding;

“�Circular” or “Mandatory Offer 
Document”

this joint Offeror and Offeree circular to Montauk Shareholders, dated Wednesday, 
25 March 2015, including the annexures and the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and 
Transfer (blue) attached hereto, setting out the details of the Mandatory Offer 
and incorporating all disclosures required to be made by the Offeror and Offeree in 
terms of the Takeover Regulations;

“Closing Date” the closing date of the Offer as released on SENS being at 12:00 on Friday, 15 May 2015 
or such later date as the Offeror may, at its discretion, subject to the prior approval of 
the Takeover Regulation Panel, elect, which amended date will be released on SENS and 
published in the South African press;

“Common Monetary Area” South Africa, the Republic of Namibia and the Kingdoms of Lesotho and Swaziland;

“Companies Act” the Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008), as amended;

“the Consortium” the consortium making the Mandatory Offer, consisting of certain directors and senior 
managers of HCI and/or their associates, the members of which are:

–– J A Copelyn

–– M A Jacobson

–– J R Nicolella

–– Y Shaik

–– A van der Veen

–– Chearsley

–– Circumference

–– The Corjo Trust

–– Majorshelf

–– Nport

–– Rivetprops
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“the Corjo Trust” the trustees for the time being of The Corjo Trust (Master’s reference number 
IT11114/96), a trust created in accordance with the Trust Property Control Act, 1988 
(Act No. 57 of 1988), a family trust of Mr Copelyn and a member of the Consortium. 
The Corjo Trust is a discretionary trust and the current beneficiaries are members of 
Mr Copelyn’s family;

“CSDP” a participant, as defined in section 1 of the Financial Markets Act;

“Dematerialise” 
or “Dematerialisation”

the process by which Certificated Montauk Shares are converted into electronic format 
as Dematerialised Montauk Shares and recorded in the uncertificated securities Register ;

“Dematerialised Montauk Share” a Montauk Share that has been Dematerialised or has been issued in Dematerialised 
form, and recorded in the uncertificated securities Register ;

“�Dematerialised Montauk 
Shareholder”

a Montauk Shareholder who holds Dematerialised Montauk Shares;

“Documents of Title” valid share certificates and/or certified transfer deeds and/or balance receipts or any 
other documents of title acceptable to the Offeror in respect of Montauk Shares;

“Emigrant” any emigrant from the Common Monetary Area;

“Exchange Control Regulations” the Exchange Control Regulations, as amended, developed in terms of section 9 of the 
Currency and Exchanges Act, 1933 (Act No. 9 of 1933), as amended;

“Financial Markets Act” the Financial Markets Act, 2012 (Act No. 19 of 2012);

“Foreign Shareholder” a Montauk Shareholder who is a non-resident of South Africa as contemplated in the 
Exchange Control Regulations;

“Form of Acceptance, Surrender 	
and Transfer (blue)” 

the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) attached to and forming part of 
this Circular ;

“HCI” Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (Registration number 1973/007111/06), a 
public company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws 
of South Africa, the issued ordinary share capital of which is listed on the JSE;

“HCI Invest17 Holdco” HCI Invest17 Holdco Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2014/146245/07), a 
private company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company 
laws of South Africa, and the Nominated Entity through which the Consortium is making 
the Mandatory Offer ;

“Independent Board” collectively,

–– M H Ahmed

–– N B Jappie

–– B S Raynor

being the directors that the Montauk Board has indicated are independent directors 
for purposes of the Takeover Regulations;

“Independent Expert” 
or “BDO Corporate Finance”

BDO Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited, the independent expert to Montauk in 
respect of the Mandatory Offer, full details of which are set out in the “Corporate 
information and advisers” section of this Circular ;

“Investec” Investec Bank Limited (Registration number 1969/004763/06), a public company duly 
incorporated and registered in accordance with the company laws of South Africa;

“JSE” JSE Limited (Registration number 2005/022939/06), a public company duly registered 
and incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa and licensed as 
an exchange under the Financial Markets Act;

“Last Practicable Date” the last practicable date prior to the finalisation of the Circular, being Friday, 20 March 
2015;

“Majorshelf ” Majorshelf 183 Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2000/023065/07), a private 
company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws of 
South Africa, and a member of the Consortium. Majorshelf is 100% owned by the 
T.G.  Govender Family Trust, a discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which are 
Mr Govender’s family;
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“Mandatory Offer” or “Offer” the offer, the terms of which are set out in this Circular, made in accordance with section 
123 of the Companies Act and the Takeover Regulations, by the Offeror to the Montauk 
Shareholders to acquire the Offer Shares for the Offer Consideration;

“Montauk” or “the Company” Montauk Holdings Limited (Registration number 2010/017811/06), a public company 
duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa, 
the issued ordinary share capital of which is listed on the JSE;

“�Montauk Board” or “Montauk 
Directors”

the board of directors of Montauk whose names appear in the “Corporate information 
and advisers” section of this Circular ;

“Montauk Shares” ordinary no par value shares in the issued share capital of Montauk, being 135 256 156 
Montauk ordinary shares at the Last Practicable Date;

“Montauk Shareholders” the registered holders of Montauk Shares as appearing on the Register ;

“Montauk Transfer Secretaries” 
or “Computershare”

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, full details of which are set out in 
the “Corporate information and advisers” section of this circular ;

“Nedbank” Nedbank Limited (Registration number 1951/000009/06), a public company duly 
registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws of South Africa;

“Nominated Entity” HCI Invest17 Holdco, the nominated entity through which the Consortium is making 
the Mandatory Offer ;

“Nport” Nport Investment Holdings Proprietary Limited (Registration number 2013/11384/07), 
a private company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company 
laws of South Africa, and a member of the Consortium. Nport is 100% owned by the 
Newport Trust, a family trust of Mr van der Veen, the current beneficiaries of which 
are members of Mr van der Veen’s family;

“Offer Consideration” the cash consideration of 320 cents payable by the Offeror for each Montauk Share 
disposed of in terms of the Mandatory Offer which consideration shall be reduced by 
the amount of any distribution per Montauk Share made during the Offer Period;

“Offer Participants” the Montauk Shareholders to whom the Mandatory Offer is made and who validly and 
lawfully accept the Mandatory Offer during the Offer Period;

“Offer Shares” all of the Montauk Shares but specifically excluding the Montauk Shares held by the 
Consortium;

“Offer Period” the period from 09:00 on the Opening Date to 12:00 on the Closing Date;

“Offeror” the Consortium, who is making the Mandatory Offer through its Nominated Entity;

“Opening Date” the Opening Date of the Offer being 09:00 on Thursday, 26 March 2015;

“Rand” or “R” South African Rand, the official currency of South Africa;

“Register” the securities register of Montauk Shareholders maintained by Montauk in terms of the 
Companies Act;

“Rivetprops” Rivetprops 47 Proprietary Limited (Registration number 1995/009741/07), a private 
company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws of 
South Africa, and a member of the Consortium;

“SACTWU” The Southern African Clothing and Textile Workers’ Union;

“SENS” the Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE;

“South Africa” the Republic of South Africa;

“Strate” Strate Proprietary Limited (Registration number 1998/022242/06), a limited liability 
private company duly registered and incorporated in accordance with the company laws 
of South Africa, which is licensed as a central securities depository under the Financial 
Markets Act and which is responsible for the electronic settlement system used by the JSE;

“Takeover Regulations” Chapter 5 (Fundamental Transactions and Takeover Regulations) of the Companies 
Regulations, 2011 promulgated in terms of sections 120 and 223 of the Companies Act;

“Takeover Regulation Panel” 
or “TRP”

the Takeover Regulation Panel, established in terms of section 196 of the Companies Act; 
and

“VWAP” volume weighted average price.
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Montauk Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2010/17811/06)
(Previously HCI International Holdings Limited and Elgabrite Proprietary Limited)

Share code: MNK      ISIN: ZAE000197455

INTRODUCTION

Montauk Shareholders are referred to the announcement released on SENS on Wednesday, 4 March 2015 whereby Montauk 
advised Montauk Shareholders that the Consortium had increased its shareholding in Montauk such that its aggregate, direct 
and indirect, shareholding had increased to 44.1% (net of treasury shares).

As previously disclosed in the abovementioned SENS announcement and Montauk Pre-listing Statement, dated 19 November 
2014, SACTWU and the Consortium, who became shareholders of Montauk following the unbundling of Montauk by HCI, 
by virtue of their shareholdings in HCI, had entered into an agreement to regulate the manner in which they would conduct 
themselves in relation to their Montauk shareholdings. The agreement established a voting pool amongst the parties to the 
agreement and the parties furthermore granted one another pre-emptive rights in respect of the parties’ Montauk Shares.

The Consortium has acquired 41 372 115 Montauk Shares from SACTWU at a price of 320 cents per share, which has 
increased its combined shareholding to approximately 44.1% (net of treasury shares). Consequently, in terms of Section 123 
of the Companies Act, read with the Takeover Regulations, the Consortium, through its Nominated Entity, is obligated to 
make an offer to all Montauk Shareholders to acquire all of the Montauk Shares, other than those that it already owns, on 
the terms set out in paragraph 1.2 below.

The Offeror has notified the Montauk Board of its obligation to proceed with the proposed acquisition of the Offer Shares. 
The Offer is an affected transaction as defined in section 117(1)(c) of the Companies Act and, accordingly, will be regulated 
by the Companies Act, the Takeover Regulations and the Takeover Regulation Panel.

The purpose of this joint Offeror and Offeree Circular, which incorporates the disclosure requirements for both the Offeror 
and Offeree as set out in the Takeover Regulations, is to:

–– make the Mandatory Offer to all Montauk Shareholders;

–– provide Montauk Shareholders with relevant information relating to the Mandatory Offer in order for Montauk 
Shareholders to make an informed decision in relation to the acceptance of the Mandatory Offer;

–– provide Montauk Shareholders with the Independent Expert’s report in respect of the Mandatory Offer prepared in 
terms of section 114(3) of the Companies Act; and

–– advise Montauk Shareholders of the Independent Board’s recommendation in respect of the Mandatory Offer 	
(as supported by the Independent Expert’s report).
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MANDATORY OFFER TO SHAREHOLDERS

1.	 TERMS OF THE MANDATORY OFFER AND INFORMATION RELATING TO THE OFFEROR

1.1	 RATIONALE FOR THE MANDATORY OFFER

On 1 December 2014, it was announced that the Consortium had entered into an option agreement comprising 
a put and call option with SACTWU in respect of SACTWU’s Montauk Shares. SACTWU had previously 
indicated that it may divest from its investment in Montauk as the investment does not fit its investment 
mandate of supporting businesses that operate in South Africa and, as such, the option agreement provided 
SACTWU with the opportunity to exit its 30.6% shareholding in Montauk in an orderly manner which doesn’t 
adversely impact Montauk or the Montauk Shareholders.

The call option provided that the Montauk Shares held by SACTWU can be acquired by the Consortium for 
an aggregate consideration of R142 645 000 (plus an amount of R3.44 per additional Montauk Share acquired 
by SACTWU prior to the exercise of the call option) during the call option period of 180 days commencing 
on the date of listing of the Montauk Shares on the Main Board of the JSE.

The put option allowed SACTWU to sell the Montauk Shares to the Consortium at the lesser of the 20 Business 
Day VWAP prior to the date on which the put option is exercised and the aggregate amount of R142 645 000 
(plus R3.44 per additional Montauk Share acquired by SACTWU prior to exercise of the put option). The put 
option could be exercised during the put option period which commences when the call option period ends 
and lasts for 20 Business Days thereafter.

Following the conclusion of the option agreement, there have been dramatic changes to the global energy 
sector including declines in natural gas prices in the United States. Furthermore, SACTWU indicated to 
the Consortium that it wished to exercise the put option prior to the put option period referred to above. 
Following negotiations with SACTWU, the Consortium has agreed to SACTWU’s request in terms of an 
addendum to the option agreement, on the proviso that the consideration payable per Montauk Share is 
agreed at 320 cents.

Following the conclusion of the option agreement addendum, the Consortium has acquired SACTWU’s 
Montauk Shares. As a result, the Consortium’s aggregate, direct and indirect, shareholding in Montauk has 
increased to more than 35%, and the Consortium is therefore required, in terms of the Takeover Regulations, 
to make a mandatory offer to Montauk Shareholders for the Offer Shares at the highest price paid by the 
Offeror or concert parties in the past six months.

There is limited liquidity in Montauk Shares and the Offer provides Montauk Shareholders with an opportunity 
to realise their investment at a premium to the volume weighted average price of Montauk since the listing, 
before the announcement of the Mandatory Offer, of 293 cents.

The Offeror does not anticipate any change to the nature of the Montauk’s business or the Montauk Directors 
following the Mandatory Offer.

1.2	 TERMS OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

1.2.1	 The Mandatory Offer and the Offer Consideration

The Offeror hereby offers to acquire from the Offer Participants, for the Offer Consideration, all 
the Offer Shares in respect of which it receives valid acceptances prior to 12:00 on the Closing Date.

The Offer Consideration for every Offer Share disposed of by an Offer Participant in terms of the 
Mandatory Offer will be 320 cents. Montauk Shareholders may elect to accept the Offer in whole or 
in part.

The Offer Consideration represents a premium to the VWAP of Montauk Shares from the date of 
listing to the day before the announcement of the Mandatory Offer, which VWAP was 293 cents.

1.2.2	 Remaining shareholders

Montauk Shareholders who elect not to accept the Mandatory Offer, or who elect to only accept the 
Mandatory Offer in part, will remain shareholders in Montauk.
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1.2.3	 Offer Period

The Mandatory Offer will be open for acceptance from 09:00 on Thursday, 26 March 2015 and 
will, subject to the paragraph below, remain open until the Closing Date which, unless Montauk 
Shareholders are notified to the contrary, will be Friday, 15 May 2015.

The Offeror may, at its discretion, subject to the prior approval of the Takeover Regulation Panel, 
make any changes to the dates referred to in this Circular (including extending the Closing Date), 
which amended dates will be released on SENS and published in the South African press.

1.2.4	 Basis of acquisition of Montauk Shares

The Offer Shares in respect of which the Mandatory Offer is accepted will be acquired by the Offeror 
free of liens, mortgages, options, rights of pre-emption, charges, encumbrances and other third party 
rights and interests of any nature whatsoever.

The Offer Shares in respect of which the Mandatory Offer is accepted will be acquired by the 
Offeror together with all rights and benefits thereto, including without limitation the right to receive 
all dividends, distributions, benefits or rights which accrue or are declared by Montauk on or after 
Wednesday, 25 March 2015, irrespective of the actual date of registration of transfer of the Offer 
Shares concerned in the name of the Offeror. Accordingly, the Offer Consideration will be adjusted by 
an amount equal to the amount of any Montauk distributions per Montauk Share declared and paid or 
made by Montauk to Montauk Shareholders in the period between the Opening Date and the date 
upon which the relevant Montauk Shares are registered in the name of the Offeror.

Settlement of the Offer Consideration pursuant to the Offer will be implemented in accordance with 
the terms of the Offer without regard to any lien, right of set-off, counterclaim, deduction, withholding 
or other analogous right to which the Offeror may otherwise be, or claim to be, entitled against any 
Montauk Shareholder.

Offer Participants warrant that they shall deliver the Offer Shares to the Offeror free of all the 
aforementioned liens, mortgages, options, rights of pre-emption, charges, encumbrances and other 
third party rights and interests of any nature whatsoever.

The sale (as distinct from settlement) of the Offer Shares shall be deemed to take place on the date 
of acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, notwithstanding the actual date of transfer.

1.2.5	 Conditions to the Mandatory Offer

The Consortium obtained Competition Commission approval for the acquisition of control of 
Montauk during 2014 and, accordingly the Offer is not subject to any conditions precedent, other 
than the receipt of the required approval of the TRP, including the issuance by the TRP of the requisite 
compliance certificate.

1.2.6	 Cash confirmation

Nedbank, acting through the Nedbank Corporate division, has furnished the TRP with a cash 
confirmation that the Offeror has sufficient cash resources and/or facilities with which to meet its 
obligations in relation to the Mandatory Offer.

1.2.7	 The Offeror’s intention to invoke the provisions of section 124 of the Companies Act

Should the Mandatory Offer be accepted by Montauk Shareholders holding at least 90% of the 
Offer Shares, within four months after the date of the Mandatory Offer, then it is the intention of the 
Offeror to exercise its entitlement to compulsorily acquire the remaining Montauk Shares in issue 
(other than those already held by the Offeror) in accordance with the terms of section 124 of the 
Companies Act.

Should the Offeror become entitled to and elect to exercise its entitlement in terms of section 124 of 
the Companies Act, Montauk Shares will be delisted from the JSE, and cease to trade.

For information purposes, the relevant provisions of section 124 of the Companies Act are set out in 
Annexure III to this Circular.
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1.3	 PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

1.3.1	 Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates

Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who wish to accept the Mandatory Offer 
must complete the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) attached to this Mandatory 
Offer Document in accordance with the instructions therein. The completed Form of Acceptance, 
Surrender and Transfer (blue) must be forwarded, together with the relevant share certificates, by 
hand or by mail to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries as follows:

By hand

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg
2001

By mail

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61763
Marshalltown
2107

so as to be received by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries by not later than 12:00 on the Closing Date.

If a Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) is not received by 12:00 on the Closing 
Date, the Mandatory Offer will be deemed to have not been accepted. No late acceptances will be 
considered if received by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries after 12:00 on the Closing Date.

Delivery of the Forms of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) and Documents of Title are 
at the risk of the Offer Participant concerned. If such acceptances are sent through the post, it is 
recommended that they be sent to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries by registered post. Alternatively, 
the attached Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) together with the Documents of 
Title can be delivered by hand to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries, whose details are set out above 
and in the “Corporate information and advisers” section of this Circular.

1.3.2	 Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or Brokers as 
nominees in Dematerialised form

If you are a Dematerialised Montauk Shareholder, you will be contacted by your duly appointed 
CSDP or Broker in the manner stipulated in the custody agreement entered into between you and 
your CSDP or Broker, as the case may be, in order to ascertain whether or not you wish to accept 
the Mandatory Offer. If you wish to accept the Offer, you must notify your CSDP or Broker of your 
acceptance of the Mandatory Offer in the time and manner stipulated in the custody agreement 
entered into between you and your CSDP or Broker, as the case may be.

If Montauk Shareholders wish to accept the Mandatory Offer but have not been contacted by their 
CSDP or Broker, they should contact and furnish their CSDP or Broker with instructions with regard 
to the acceptance of the Mandatory Offer. These instructions must be provided in the manner and 
by the cut-off date and time advised by the CSDP or Broker in terms of the custody agreement and 
must be communicated to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries, details of whom are set out above, by 
no later than 12:00 on the Closing Date.

You must NOT complete the attached Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue).

If you notify your CSDP or Broker of your desire to accept the Mandatory Offer, you will NOT be 
able to trade your Montauk Shares from the date on which you notify your CSDP or Broker of your 
acceptance of the Mandatory Offer.

The Consortium, the Offeror, Montauk, and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries take no responsibility 
and will not be held liable for any failure on the part of any CSDP or Broker to notify a Montauk 
Shareholder of the Mandatory Offer and/or to obtain instructions from a Montauk Shareholder and 
submit acceptances timeously to the Montauk Transfer Secretaries.

1.3.3	 Lost or destroyed Documents of Title

If the Documents of Title relating to the Montauk Shares have been lost or destroyed, Montauk 
Shareholders who wish to accept the Mandatory Offer should nevertheless return the attached Form 
of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue), duly signed and completed, together with evidence 
satisfactory to the Offeror that the Documents of Title to the relevant Offer Shares have been lost or 
destroyed and an indemnity on terms satisfactory to the Offeror (the costs of which shall be borne 
by the Montauk Shareholder).
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The Offeror may, in its sole discretion, dispense with the surrender of such Documents of Title upon 
production of satisfactory evidence that the Documents of Title have been lost or destroyed and 
upon provision of a suitable indemnity by the Montauk Shareholders in question. Only indemnity 
forms obtained from the Montauk Transfer Secretaries (available on request) will be regarded as 
suitable.

1.3.4	 General

Montauk Shareholders who do not wish to accept the Mandatory Offer need take no further action 
and will be deemed to have not accepted the Mandatory Offer, subject to the provisions of paragraph 
1.2.7 above relating to the possible invocation by the Offeror of the provisions of section 124 of the 
Companies Act.

In respect of Montauk Shares, the Offeror reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to:

–– treat as invalid Forms of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) not accompanied by valid 
Documents of Title;

–– treat as invalid any Forms of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) not properly completed; 
and

–– require proof of the authority of the person signing the Form of Acceptance, Surrender and 
Transfer (blue) where such proof has not yet been lodged with or recorded by the Montauk 
Transfer Secretaries.

1.3.5	 Acceptances irrevocable

All acceptances of the Mandatory Offer received by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries, the Offeror 
or the relevant CSDP or Broker and treated as valid by them on or prior to the Closing Date shall be 
irrevocable.

1.3.6	 Transaction receipts

No receipts will be issued by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries or the Offeror for Forms of Acceptance, 
Surrender and Transfer (blue) unless specifically requested to do so by the Montauk Shareholder in 
question. Lodging agents who require special transaction receipts are requested to prepare such 
receipts and to submit them for stamping by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries, together with the 
Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue).

1.3.7	 Acceptances of the Mandatory Offer by nominee companies and representatives

Acceptances of the Mandatory Offer by recognised nominee companies may be submitted in aggregate 
or in respect of each Montauk Shareholder represented by such nominee companies.

Any representative accepting the Mandatory Offer warrants that it is duly authorised to do so.

1.3.8	 Taxation

Acceptances of the Mandatory Offer may have an impact on a Montauk Shareholder’s personal tax 
position in relation thereto. Accordingly, Montauk Shareholders should seek the advice of their tax 
advisers in this regard.

1.4	 SETTLEMENT

1.4.1	 Montauk Shareholders who hold their own share certificates

The Offeror will procure the settlement of the Offer Consideration to those Montauk Shareholders 
who have elected to accept the Mandatory Offer and who have surrendered their Documents of Title 
and furnished duly signed Forms of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) in accordance with the 
instructions contained therein, at the risk of the Montauk Shareholder concerned, on the first Monday, 
or first Business Day thereafter if such Monday is not a Business Day, following acceptance of the 
Mandatory Offer, provided that the acceptance is received by the Transfer Secretaries before 12:00 
on the Friday or last Business Day preceding the date of payment. Payment of the Offer Consideration 
in respect of acceptances received on the Closing Date, will be made on Monday, 18 May 2015.
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1.4.2	 Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or Brokers as 
nominees in dematerialised form

The Offeror will procure the settlement of the Offer Consideration to the CSDPs or Brokers 
who hold Montauk Shares as nominees for Montauk Shareholders who have elected to accept the 
Mandatory Offer on the first Monday, or first Business Day thereafter if such Monday is not a Business 
Day, following acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, provided that the acceptance is received by the 
Transfer Secretaries before 12:00 on the Friday or last Business Day preceding the date of payment. 
Payment of the Offer Consideration in respect of acceptances received on the Closing Date will be 
made on Monday, 18 May 2015. Settlement of the Offer Consideration by the CSDP or Broker to 
the Montauk Shareholder will be in accordance with the terms of the relevant custody agreement.

1.5	 GOVERNING LAW

This Circular, the Mandatory Offer and any acceptance thereof, will be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of South Africa and will be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the South African courts.

1.6	 SOUTH AFRICAN EXCHANGE CONTROL REGULATIONS

The settlement of the Offer Consideration will be effected in accordance with the Exchange Control 
Regulations of the South African Reserve Bank. The following is a summary of the South African Exchange 
Control Regulations which apply to Offer Participants. If in doubt, Offer Participants should consult their 
professional advisers without delay.

1.6.1	 Emigrants from the Common Monetary Area

The Offer Consideration due to Offer Participants who are Emigrants from the Common Monetary 
Area will be dealt with as follows:

1.6.1.1	 in the case of Montauk Shareholders who hold their own share certificates and whose share 
certificates have been restrictively endorsed under the Exchange Control Regulations, the 
Offer Consideration will be forwarded to the authorised dealer in foreign exchange in 
South Africa controlling such Montauk Shareholders’ blocked assets and held to the order 
of such authorised dealers. The attached Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer 
(blue) makes provision for the details of authorised dealers; or

1.6.1.2	 in the case of Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or 
Brokers as nominees, the Offer Consideration will be credited to the account of the Offer 
Participants’ CSDP or Broker which shall arrange for same to be credited directly to the 
Offer Participants blocked asset account held by the Offer Participants’ authorised dealers 
and held to the order of the Offer Participants’ dealers in foreign exchange in South Africa.

1.6.2	 All other non-residents of the Common Monetary Area

The Offer Consideration due to Offer Participants who are non-residents of the Common Monetary 
Area, who have never resided in South Africa and who reside or whose registered addresses are 
outside the Common Monetary Area will be dealt with as follows:

1.6.2.1	 in the case of Montauk Shareholders who hold their own share certificates, the Offer 
Consideration will be forwarded to the authorised dealers in foreign exchange in South 
Africa nominated by the Montauk Shareholder. It will be incumbent on the Montauk 
Shareholders concerned to instruct the nominated authorised dealers as to the disposal of 
the amount concerned. The attached Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (blue) 
makes provision for the nomination required; or

1.6.2.2	 in the case of Montauk Shareholders whose Montauk Shares are held by their CSDPs or 
Brokers as nominees, the Offer Consideration will be credited directly to the bank accounts 
nominated by the Montauk Shareholders, by their duly appointed CSDP or Broker, as the 
case may be.

If the information regarding authorised dealers is not given in terms of paragraph 1.6.1 and paragraph 
1.6.2 above, the Offer Consideration will be held in trust by the Offeror for the Offer Participants 
concerned, pending receipt of the necessary information or instructions. All interest accruing on the 
Offer Consideration so held in trust will be for the benefit of the Offer Participant concerned.
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1.7	 OTHER TERMS OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

The Mandatory Offer may be amended, varied or revised in such manner as the Offeror in its sole discretion 
may determine, provided that no such amendment, variation or revision shall be made unless:

•	 the prior consent of the Takeover Regulation Panel has been obtained;

•	 there is no diminution in the value of the Offer Consideration offered; and

•	 an announcement containing the amended, varied or revised Mandatory Offer is made prior to the Closing 
Date of the Mandatory Offer or such other date which is approved by the Takeover Regulation Panel.

In addition to the above, no amendment to, or variation of the Mandatory Offer will be valid unless made in 
writing and signed by a duly authorised representative of the Offeror. Without prejudice to its other rights, the 
Offeror reserves the right to condone, in its sole discretion, the non-observance by any Montauk Shareholder 
of any of the terms or conditions of the Mandatory Offer. If the Mandatory Offer is amended, varied or revised 
in a manner which makes it more favourable to the Montauk Shareholders, the benefit of such improved 
Mandatory Offer will automatically accrue to any Montauk Shareholder who has accepted the Mandatory 
Offer prior to the amendment, variation or revision being made.

The acceptance by or on behalf of such Montauk Shareholders of the Mandatory Offer in its original or 
previous form shall be deemed to be an acceptance of any improved Mandatory Offer pursuant to any such 
amendment, variation or revision and shall constitute an irrevocable authority and power of attorney in rem 
suam to any director or duly authorised representative of the Offeror:

•	 to accept such amended, varied or revised Mandatory Offer on behalf of such Montauk Shareholder; and

•	 to execute on behalf of and in the name of such Montauk Shareholder all such further documents (if any) 
as may be required to give effect to such acceptance.

1.8	 RESTRICTED JURISDICTIONS

To the extent that the distribution of this Circular in certain jurisdictions outside of South Africa may be 
restricted or prohibited by the laws of such foreign jurisdiction then this Circular is deemed to have been 
provided for information purposes only and neither the Montauk Board, the Offeror, nor the Consortium 
accepts any responsibility for any failure by Offer Participants to inform themselves about, and to observe, any 
applicable legal requirements in any relevant foreign jurisdiction.

Offer Participants who are in doubt as to their position should consult their professional advisers.

1.9	 DIRECT AND INDIRECT BENEFICIAL INTERESTS OF THE OFFEROR

1.9.1	 Interests of the Offeror in Montauk

The Consortium holds a direct and indirect beneficial interest of approximately 44.07% (net of treasury 
shares) in Montauk, as set out in the table below. At the Last Practicable Date, the Consortium did 
not hold any options over Montauk Shares.

Before1 % After2 %

J A Copelyn 6 705 348  4.96 6 705 348 4.96
M A Jacobson 65 299  0.05 3 255 689 2.41
J R Nicolella 85 363  0.06 665 433 0.49
Y Shaik – – 580 070 0.43
A van der Veen 813 272  0.60 813 272 0.60
Chearsley 1 197 275  0.89 1 197 275 0.89
Circumference 1 484 968  1.10 1 484 968 1.10
The Corjo Trust 1 356 577  1.00 1 356 577 1.00
HCI Invest17 Holdco (Nominated Entity) – – – –
Majorshelf 1 625 555  1.20 12 731 899 9.41
Nport – – 5 553 238 4.11
Rivetprops 4 900 372  3.62 25 262 375 18.68

18 234 029 13.48 59 606 144 44.07

1 Before the acquisition of SACTWU’s Montauk Shares.

2 After the acquisition of SACTWU’s Montauk Shares.
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The following table depicts the trades of the Consortium in Montauk Shares in the past six months. 
The only trade was the acquisition by the Consortium of SACTWU’s 41 372 115 Montauk Shares 
which were acquired on 2 March 2015 as follows:

Consortium member Number of shares bought Price (cents)

J A Copelyn – –
M A Jacobson 3 190 390 320
J R Nicolella 580 070 320
Y Shaik 580 070 320
Chearsley – –
Circumference – –
The Corjo Trust – –
HCI Invest17 Holdco – –
Majorshelf 11 106 344 320
Nport 5 553 238 320
Rivetprops 20 362 003 320

1.9.2	 Interests of the Offeror’s directors or equivalent in the Offeror’s securities and in Montauk 
Shares

The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the directors of the Offeror or equivalent in the share 
capital of Montauk as at the Last Practicable Date have been set out below:

Director Direct beneficial Indirect beneficial Total

J A Copelyn 6 705 348 – 6 705 348
T G Govender 279 521 – 279 521

Total 6 984 869 – 6 984 869

The Consortium members will hold shares in HCI Invest17 Holdco in proportion to their contributions 
to the funding of the Mandatory Offer. As at the Last Practicable Date, Circumference, Majorshelf 
and Nport hold approximately 73%; 17% and 10% respectively of the issued share capital of the 
Nominated Entity.

As at the Last Practicable Date, none of the members of the Consortium hold share options to 
acquire shares in the Nominated Entity.

There have been no trades by the members of the Consortium during the period beginning six 
months before the Opening Date until the Last Practicable Date.

No irrevocable commitments were received for the Mandatory Offer.

1.10	 AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE OFFEROR OR ANY PERSON ACTING IN CONCERT 
WITH THE OFFEROR

Except for the agreement between members of the Consortium, as disclosed in paragraph 1.1 of this Circular, 
to the best of the Offeror’s knowledge, the Offeror does not have any agreements between itself, or any 
person acting in concert with the Offeror, and

•	 Montauk; or
•	 any of the Montauk Directors; or
•	 persons who were directors of Montauk within the preceding 12 months of the Mandatory Offer; or
•	 holders of Montauk Shares, or persons who were holders thereof within the preceding 12 months that 

are considered to be material to a decision regarding the Mandatory Offer to be taken by the Montauk 
Shareholders or the Consortium.

2.	 INFORMATION RELATING TO THE OFFEREE

2.1	 BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON MONTAUK

Montauk, a public company incorporated in South Africa, develops, owns and operates large scale renewable 
energy projects utilising landfill methane in the USA. The Group has over 20 years’ experience in permitting, 
design, construction and operation of energy facilities utilising LFG and is headquartered in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania. The Group’s expertise and experience includes, inter alia, the following:
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•	 pipeline quality gas production;

•	 electric power generation;

•	 carbon reduction and offset credits;

•	 renewable energy credits; and

•	 LFG collection system operations.

2.2	 DIRECT AND INDIRECT BENEFICIAL INTERESTS OF THE OFFEREE

2.2.1	 Interests of the Montauk Board in Montauk and the Offeror

The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the Montauk Directors or equivalent in the share capital 
of Montauk as at the Last Practicable Date have been set out below:

Director Total direct and indirect beneficial holding

Executive
D R Herrman –
S F McClain –

Non-executive
J A Copelyn 6 705 348
M A Jacobson 3 255 689
A van der Veen 6 366 510
M H Ahmed –
N B Jappie –
B S Raynor 91 541

Resigned
M J A Golding 10 071 060
T G Govender 279 521

The following table depicts the trades of Montauk Directors in Montauk Shares in the past six months.

Director Date
Purchase/
Sale Quantity

Price 
(cents per

share)

B S Raynor 21 January 2015 Purchase 1 100 295
B S Raynor 22 January 2015 Purchase 33 900 309
B S Raynor 3 February 2015 Purchase 42 822 350
B S Raynor 4 February 2015 Purchase 7 178 350
B S Raynor 10 March 2015 Purchase 2 700 346

Except as disclosed above, for the period beginning six months before the Offer Period to the Last 
Practicable Date, the Montauk Directors have not traded in Montauk Shares.

Other than J A Copelyn, T G Govender, M A Jacobson and A van der Veen or their related entities 
direct and indirect beneficial holdings in the Offeror as disclosed in paragraph 1.9, the Montauk 
Directors do not hold direct or indirect beneficial interests in the Offeror.

2.2.2	 Interests of the Offeree in the Offeror

At the Last Practicable Date, Montauk had no direct or indirect beneficial interest in the Offeror.

2.3	 MONTAUK DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There are no material particulars of an abnormal nature in respect of Montauk Directors’ service contracts 
which require specific disclosure, nor were any Directors’ service contracts entered into or amended during 
the period beginning six months prior to the opening date of the Mandatory Offer and ending on the Last 
Practical Date.

2.4	 MONTAUK DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The total emoluments received by Montauk’s Directors will not be varied as a consequence of the Mandatory 
Offer.
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2.5	 AGREEMENTS BETWEEN OFFEREE OR ANY PERSON ACTING IN CONCERT WITH 
OFFEREE

Other than as disclosed in paragraph 2.2.1, that J A Copelyn, T G Govender, M A Jacobson and A van der 
Veen are, or were directors of the Offeree in the preceding 12 months, and as disclosed in the Introduction 
paragraph, to the best of the Offeree’s knowledge, the Offeree does not have any agreements between itself, 
or any person acting in concert with the Offeree, and

•	 the Offeror; or
•	 any directors of members the Offeror (where applicable); or
•	 persons who were directors of members of the Offeror within the preceding 12 months of the Mandatory 

Offer; or
•	 directors or members of the Offeror or holders of members of the Consortium’s securities, or persons 

who were holders thereof within the preceding 12 months that are considered to be material to a decision 
regarding the Mandatory Offer to be taken by the Montauk Shareholders or Consortium members.

2.6	 FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION

BDO Corporate Finance, acting as Independent Expert, has considered the terms and conditions of the 
Mandatory Offer and is of the opinion that, as at the date of the issue of the fair and reasonable opinion, the 
Mandatory Offer is fair but not reasonable. This fair and reasonable opinion is attached as Annexure I to this 
Mandatory Offer Document.

2.7	 THE VIEWS OF THE INDEPENDENT BOARD

The Independent Board, after due consideration of the report of the Independent Expert, has determined 
that it will place reliance on the valuation performed by the Independent Expert for the purposes of reaching 
its own opinion regarding the Mandatory Offer and the Offer Consideration as contemplated in Takeover 
Regulation 110(3)(b). The Independent Board has formed a view of the range of the fair value of the Montauk 
Shares, which accords with the valuation range contained in the Independent Expert’s report, in considering its 
opinion and recommendation. The Independent Board has considered the following factors which are difficult 
to quantify or are unquantifiable (as contemplated in Takeover Regulation 110(6)) in forming its opinion:

•	 the factors identified in the Independent Expert’s report; 
•	 the fact that there is limited liquidity in Montauk Shares; 
•	 the fact that the Offer Consideration is above the VWAP from the date of listing up to the date the 

Mandatory Offer was announced on SENS, despite being below the market price at the Last Practicable 
Date; and

•	 the fact that the Mandatory Offer is not subject to any conditions other than the approval of the Takeover 
Regulation Panel.

The Independent Board, taking into account the report of the Independent Expert, has considered the terms 
and conditions of the Mandatory Offer and the members of the Independent board are unanimously of the 
opinion that the terms and conditions thereof are fair to Montauk Shareholders and, accordingly, recommend 
that the Montauk Shareholders accept the Mandatory Offer.

The members of the Montauk Board that have a beneficial holding in the company, and who do not form part 
of the Consortium, have indicated that they will not accept the Mandatory Offer. 

2.8	 MATERIAL CHANGES

The Montauk Directors report that since the publication on SENS of the unaudited condensed interim results 
for the six months ended 30 September 2014, on 19 December 2014, being the last published information, 
there have been no material changes to Montauk.

3.	 CONSENTS

The investment bank, legal adviser, sponsor, Independent Expert and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries, whose 
names are set out in the “Corporate information and advisers” section of this Circular, have consented in writing to 
act in the capacity stated and to their names being stated in this Circular and none of these parties have withdrawn 
their consents prior to the publication of this Circular.

4.	 COSTS OF THE MANDATORY OFFER

The Consortium and Montauk will each bear their own costs pertaining to the Mandatory Offer, but have agreed to 
bear the following costs equally:
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•	 all costs relating to printing and publishing any announcements and documentation relating to the Mandatory 
Offer, including the costs of this document; and

•	 all regulatory fees, including fees levied by the Takeover Regulation Panel.

5.	 RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

5.1	 CONSORTIUM RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Consortium members whose names are set out in the “Corporate information and advisers” section to 
this Circular individually, and collectively:

•	 accept responsibility for the information in relation to Consortium contained in the Circular;

•	 confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information in relation to Consortium contained 
in the Circular is true; and

•	 confirm that the Circular does not omit anything likely to affect the importance of the information.

5.2	 INDEPENDENT BOARD RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Independent Board of Montauk, whose names are set out in the “Corporate information and advisers” 
section to this Circular, individually and collectively:

•	 accept responsibility for the information in relation to Montauk contained in the Circular;

•	 confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information in relation to Montauk contained 
in the Circular is true; and

•	 confirm that the Circular does not omit anything likely to affect the importance of the information.

6.	 DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

The following documents, or copies thereof, will be available for inspection during normal business hours at the 
registered office of Montauk and the Montauk Transfer Secretaries from Wednesday, 25 March 2015 up to and 
including the Closing Date of the Mandatory Offer:

–– the consolidated audited financial statements of Montauk for the two financial years ended 31 March 2013 and 
31 March 2014, and the unaudited condensed interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2014;

–– the consolidated audited financial statements of Johnnic Holdings LLC for the three financial years ended 31 March 
2012, 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2014;

–– the memorandum of incorporation of Montauk;

–– the consent letters referred to in paragraph 3;

–– the report of the Independent Expert;

–– the TRP approval letter; and

–– a signed copy of this Circular.

By order of the Board of Directors of the  
Nominated Entity on behalf of the Consortium

By order of the Montauk Board of Directors

T G Govender M H Ahmed
Director Chairman of the Independent Board

25 March 2015 25 March 2015

Registered office Registered office
Suite 801 Suite 801
76 Regent Road 76 Regent Road
Seapoint Seapoint
Cape Town, 8005 Cape Town, 8005
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ANNEXURE I

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT EXPERT

The Independent Board
Montauk Holdings Limited
Suite 801
76 Regent Road
Seapoint
Cape Town, 8005

11 March 2015

Dear Sirs

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL EXPERT TO MONTAUK HOLDINGS LIMITED 
REGARDING A MANDATORY OFFER BY A CONSORTIUM CONSISTING OF CERTAIN DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGERS OF HOSKEN CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS LIMITED AND/OR 
THEIR ASSOCIATES, ACTING THROUGH ITS NOMINATED ENTITY, TO ACQUIRE ALL OF THE 
ORDINARY SHARES IN THE ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF MONTAUK HOLDINGS LIMITED NOT 
ALREADY OWNED

Introduction

In an announcement published by Montauk Holdings Limited (“Montauk” or the “Company”) on the Stock Exchange News 
Service of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) (“SENS”) on 4 March 2015, holders of ordinary shares of no par value in the issued share 
capital of Montauk (“Montauk Shares”) (“Shareholders”) were informed that a consortium comprising certain directors and 
senior managers of Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (“HCI”) and/or their associates (“the Consortium”), has 
increased its shareholding in Montauk such that its aggregate direct and indirect shareholding has increased to 44.1% (net of 
treasury shares).

As previously disclosed in the Montauk Pre-listing Statement, dated 19 November 2014, the Southern African Clothing and 
Textile Workers’ Union (“SACTWU”) and the Consortium, who became shareholders of Montauk Holdings following the 
unbundling of Montauk by HCI, by virtue of their shareholdings in HCI, have entered into an agreement to regulate the 
manner in which they will conduct themselves in relation to their Montauk shareholdings. The agreement established a voting 
pool amongst the parties to the agreement and the parties furthermore granted one another pre-emptive rights in respect 
of the parties’ Montauk Shares.

The Consortium has acquired 41 372 115 Montauk Shares from SACTWU at a price of 320 cents per share which has 
increased its combined shareholding to 44.1%. Consequently, in terms of section 123 of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended (the “Companies Act”), read with the Takeover Regulations promulgated in terms of sections 120 and 223 of 
the Companies Act (the “Takeover Regulations”) the Consortium, through its nominated entity, HCI Invest17 Holdco 
Proprietary Limited (the “Offeror”), is obligated to make an offer to all Montauk shareholders to acquire all of the ordinary 
shares of Montauk, other than those that it already owns (the “Offer Shares”). The Offeror is accordingly obligated to extend 
an offer to the remaining Montauk shareholders to acquire the ordinary shares held by Montauk shareholders other than 
those already held by the Offeror (the “Offer Shares”) at the highest price paid by the Offeror or any person acting in 
concert with the Offeror within the six-month period before the commencement of the offer period, being 320 cents per 
share (“the Offer Price”) (the “Offer”).

As at the date of this opinion, the ordinary share capital of the Company comprises of the following:

•	 authorised ordinary share capital comprising 200 000 000 no par value ordinary shares and 200 000 000 unclassified 
shares; and

•	 issued ordinary share capital comprising 135 256 156 no par value ordinary shares.

The Company holds no ordinary shares as treasury shares. Full details of the Offer are contained in the circular to Montauk 
shareholders (“the Circular”) to be dated on or about 25 March 2015, which will include a copy of this letter.
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FAIR AND REASONABLE OPINION REQUIRED IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

The Offer is an affected transaction as defined in section 117(1)(c)(vi) of the Companies Act and, accordingly, will be 
regulated by the Companies Act, the Takeover Regulations and the Takeover Regulation Panel (“TRP”). Regulation 90(1) 
provides that the Company must retain an Independent Expert to compile a report to the Independent Board concerning 
the proposed Offer which meets the requirements of Regulation 90(5).

BDO Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited (“BDO Corporate Finance” or “the Independent Expert”) has been appointed 
by the board of directors of Montauk Group Limited (“Montauk” or the “Company”) to advise on whether the terms and 
conditions of the Offer are fair and reasonable to the remaining shareholders of Montauk.

RESPONSIBILITY

Compliance with the Companies Act is the responsibility of the directors of Montauk. Our responsibility is to report on the 
fairness and reasonableness of the terms and conditions of the Offer.

EXPLANATION AS TO HOW THE TERMS “FAIR” AND “REASONABLE” APPLY IN THE CONTEXT 
OF THE OFFER

The “fairness” of an offer is based on quantitative issues. An offer may be said to be fair if the benefits received by the 
shareholders, as a result of the offer, are equal to or greater than the value ceded by the shareholders.

The Offer may be said to be fair if the Offer Price is greater than or equal to the fair value of a Montauk Share or unfair if 
the Offer Price is less than the fair value of one Montauk Share.

The assessment of reasonableness of the Offer Price is based on the offer price in relation to the prevailing trading price of 
a Montauk Share as at the time of the Offer.

It is therefore conceivable that if the Offer Price exceeds either the estimated fair value per security or current traded price 
per Montauk Share, but not both, the Offer Price could be considered fair but not reasonable or reasonable but not fair.

DETAIL AND SOURCES OF INFORMATION

In arriving at our opinion we have relied upon the following principal sources of information:

•	 the terms and conditions of the Offer, as set out in the Circular;

•	 the Montauk Pre-listing Statement;

•	 unaudited Condensed Interim Results of Montauk for the six months ended 30 September 2014;

•	 management accounts of Montauk for the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013 and the period ended 31 January 2015 
and forecast financial information for the year ending 31 March 2015;

•	 forecast financial information of Montauk on a real basis for the period covering contractually available extensions on 
the gas rights in respect of the 13 Landfill Gas (“LFG”) sites currently operated by Montauk as well as the additional 
site under development, on a consolidated and per-site basis;

•	 discussions with Montauk directors and management regarding the historic and forecast financial information;

•	 discussions with Montauk directors and management on prevailing market, economic, legal and other conditions which 
may affect underlying value;

•	 publicly available information relating to the Oil and Gas Sector in general; and

•	 publicly available information relating to Montauk that we deemed to be relevant, including company announcements 
and media articles.

The information above was secured from:

•	 directors and management of Montauk and their advisors; and

•	 third party sources, including information related to publicly available economic, market and other data which we 
considered applicable to, or potentially influencing Montauk.

PROCEDURES

In arriving at our opinion we have undertaken the following procedures in evaluating the fairness and reasonableness of the 
Offer :

•	 reviewed the terms and conditions of the Offer;

•	 reviewed the audited and unaudited financial information of Montauk;
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•	 reviewed and obtained an understanding from management as to the forecast financial information of Montauk and 
assessed the achievability thereof by considering historic information as well as macro-economic and sector-specific 
data;

•	 held discussions with directors of Montauk and considered such other matters as we consider necessary, including 
assessing the prevailing economic and market conditions and trends;

•	 compiled forecast cash flows in respect of Montauk’s portfolio of active and development projects by using the 
forecast financial information as detailed above. Applied BDO Corporate Finance’s assumptions of real discount 
rates for active and development projects to the forecast cash flows to produce discounted cash flow valuations of 
Montauk’s portfolio of active and development projects;

•	 performed a valuation of Montauk’s equity by adding bank balances and deposits to the value of Montauk’s projects 
and deducting the fair value of Montauk’s rehabilitation obligations;

•	 assessed the long-term potential of Montauk;

•	 performed a sensitivity analysis on key assumptions included in the discounted cash flow valuations, specifically related 
to discount rate;

•	 evaluated the relative risks associated with Montauk and the industry in which it operates;

•	 reviewed certain publicly available information relating to Montauk and the Oil and Gas Sector that we deemed to be 
relevant, including company announcements and media articles;

•	 where relevant, representations made by management and/or directors were corroborated to source documents or 
independent analytical procedures were performed by us, to examine and understand the industry in which Montauk 
operates, and to analyse external factors that could influence the business of Montauk; and

•	 considered such other matters as we considered necessary, including assessing the prevailing economic and market 
conditions and trends in the Oil and Gas Sector.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

In arriving at our opinion, we have considered, in addition to the procedures referred to above, other key factors, which are 
set out below:

•	 The Company is exposed to commodity price risk, specifically the market price of natural gas and to a lesser extent 
electric prices. In order to mitigate the effect of fluctuations in natural gas prices on forecast cash flows we utilised a 
real forecast and applied the closing spot NYMEX Natural Gas price of US$2.71 per MMBtu on 10 March 2015, being 
the most recent practical date prior to finalisation of our opinion; and

•	 Montauk separately sells the renewable energy credits related to the renewable energy that it produces into the 
market which is material contributor to future revenue and profitability. The market for Cellulosic Biofuel Renewable 
Identification Numbers (“RINs”) is however undeveloped and thinly traded. The cash flow forecasts are based the 
prevailing market price of cellulosic RINs, although thinly traded, and management’s understanding of the evolution 
of the regulatory framework in respect of renewable energy credits based on recent interpretations and guidance 
released by the US Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”).

ASSUMPTIONS

We arrived at our opinion based on the following assumptions:

•	 That reliance can be placed on the financial information of Montauk.

APPROPRIATENESS AND REASONABLENESS OF UNDERLYING INFORMATION AND 
ASSUMPTIONS

We satisfied ourselves as to the appropriateness and reasonableness of the information and assumptions employed in 
arriving at our opinion by:

•	 conducting analytical reviews on the historical financial results and the forecast financial information, such as key ratio 
and trend analyses; and

•	 determining the extent to which representations from management were confirmed by documentary and audited 
financial evidence, as well as our understanding of Montauk and the economic environment in which the Company 
operates.
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LIMITING CONDITIONS

This opinion has been given to the Independent Board for the sole purpose of assisting the Independent Board in forming 
and expressing an opinion for the benefit of Montauk minority shareholders. The opinion does not purport to cater for each 
individual shareholder’s perspective, but rather that of the general body of Montauk shareholders. Should a Montauk 
shareholder be in doubt as to what action to take, he or she should consult an independent adviser.

An individual shareholder’s decision as to whether to accept the Offer may be influenced by his particular circumstances. 
The assessment as to whether or not the Independent Board decides to recommend the Offer is a decision that can only 
be taken by the Independent Board of Montauk.

We have relied upon and assumed the accuracy of the information used by us in deriving our opinion. While our work has 
involved an analysis of the annual financial statements and other information provided to us, our engagement does not 
constitute, nor does it include, an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.

Where relevant, forward-looking information of Montauk relates to future events and is based on assumptions that may or 
may not remain valid for the whole of the forecast period. Consequently, such information cannot be relied upon to the same 
extent as that derived from audited financial statements for completed accounting periods. We express no opinion as to how 
closely the actual future results of Montauk will correspond to those projected. We have, however, compared the forecast 
financial information to past trends as well as discussing the assumptions inherent therein with management.

We have also assumed that the Offer will have the legal consequences described in discussions with, and materials furnished 
to us by representatives and advisors of Montauk and we express no opinion on such consequences.

Our opinion is based on current economic, regulatory and market as well as other conditions. Subsequent developments 
may affect the opinion, and we are under no obligation to update, review or re-affirm our opinion based on such developments.

INDEPENDENCE, COMPETENCE AND FEES

We confirm that we have no direct or indirect interest in Montauk shares or the Offer. We also confirm that we have the 
necessary competence to provide the Fair and Reasonable.

Furthermore, we confirm that our professional fees of R275 000 (excluding VAT) are not contingent upon the success of the 
Offer.

VALUATION

BDO Corporate Finance performed a valuation of Montauk to determine whether the Offer represents fair value to the 
Montauk shareholders.

The valuation of Montauk was performed by applying the discounted cash flow methodology. The valuation of Montauk was 
performed on a sum-of-the-parts (“SOTP”) basis, using consolidated cash flow forecasts for Montauk’s 13 active projects and 
cash flow forecast for its development project. The value of Montauk’s equity in US$ was derived by adding current bank 
balances and deposits to the value of Montauk’s projects and deducting the fair value of Montauk’s rehabilitation obligations. 
The value of Montauk’s equity was converted at the closing South African Rand/US Dollar exchange rate on 10 March 2015 
of ZAR12.3551:US$, being the most recent practical date prior to finalisation of our opinion.

The valuation was performed taking cognisance of risk and other market and industry factors affecting Montauk.

Key internal value drivers to the discounted cash flow valuation of Montauk included the real discount rate for active and 
development projects, revenue per project driven by volumes of landfill gas and electricity sold, operating expenses per 
project and capital expenditure requirements per project.

External value drivers include the prevailing NYMEX Natural Gas price and electric prices and market prices for RINs.

VALUATION RESULTS

In undertaking the valuation exercise above, we determined a valuation range for Montauk Shares of 316 cents to 342 cents 
per Montauk Share, with a most likely value of 332 cents per Montauk Share.

The valuation range above is provided solely in respect of this opinion and should not be used for any other purposes.
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REASONABLENESS OF THE OFFER

The Offer Price represents a:

•	 discount of 12.5% to the closing price per Montauk Share on the exchange operated by the JSE (“Exchange”) 
on 2 March 2015 of 360 cents, being the date of acquisition by the Consortium of SACTWU’s 41 372 115 
Montauk Shares;

•	 Premium of 9.2% to the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of Montauk Shares on the exchange operated by 
the JSE (“Exchange”) since the date of listing of the Montauk Shares of 293 cents.

OPINION

BDO Corporate Finance has considered the proposed terms and conditions of the Offer, based upon and subject to the 
conditions set out herein, is of the opinion that the terms and conditions of the Offer, based on quantitative considerations, 
are fair to the Montauk shareholders.

We are of the opinion that the proposed terms and conditions of the Offer are not reasonable from the perspective of the 
Montauk shareholders, as the Offer is at a discount to the closing price of a Montauk Share on 2 March 2015.

Our opinion is necessarily based upon the information available to us up to 11 March 2015, including in respect of the 
financial, market and other conditions and circumstances existing and disclosed to us at the date thereof. We have 
furthermore assumed that all conditions precedent, including any material regulatory and other approvals and consents 
required in connection with the Offer and the Offer have been fulfilled or obtained.

Accordingly, it should be understood that subsequent developments may affect this opinion, which we are under no obligation 
to update, revise or re-affirm.

CONSENT

We hereby consent to the inclusion of this letter and references thereto in the Circular in the form and context in which 
they appear.

Yours faithfully
BDO Corporate Finance Proprietary Limited

Nick Lazanakis
Director

22 Wellington Road
Parktown
2193
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ANNEXURE II 

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF MONTAUK HOLDINGS

Important Notice

Montauk Shareholders should note that the financial information presented below for the years ended 31 March 2013 and 
31 March 2014 are prior to the restructure as defined in the Montauk pre-listing statement. Montauk shareholders are 
referred to the Montauk pre-listing statement to view the pro forma financial information for the year-end 31 March 2014, 
as well as the three-year historical financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2012, 31 March 2013 and 31 March 
2014 of Johnnic Holdings USA LLC, which is the US holding company of the Montauk business.

Introduction

The historical financial information of Montauk Holdings set out below has been extracted from the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Montauk Holdings for the periods ended 31 March 2014 and 2013. 

The presentation of the historical financial information of Montauk Holdings within this circular is the 
responsibility of the Directors of Montauk Holdings.

Statements of financial position at 31 March 2014

Notes
2014

$’000
2013*
$’000

Assets
Non-current assets 75 403 171 271

Property, plant and equipment 1 44 654 50 039
Intangible assets 2 29 063 54 465
Goodwill 3 – 10 537
Investments in associates 4 – 10 311
Investments in joint venture 5 – 38 639
Other financial assets 6 – 5 747
Subsidiary companies 7 – –
Deferred taxation 8 – 94
Non-current receivables 9 1 686 1 439

Current assets 13 728 61 885

Inventories 10 728 1 061
Programme rights 11 – 1 075
Other financial assets 6 307 7 025
Trade and other receivables 12 3 952 19 695
Taxation – 33
Cash and cash equivalents 28.5 8 741 32 996

Disposal group assets held for sale 13 123 080 –

Total assets 212 211 233 156

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves 145 522 166 312

Ordinary share capital 14 166 202 166 202
Common control reserve (3 809) (3 809)
Other reserves 15 (4 616) 1 023
Accumulated losses (37 707) (24 774)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 120 070 138 642
Non-controlling interest 25 452 27 670

Non-current liabilities 6 150 27 034

Borrowings 16 – 21 250
Long-term provisions 17 6 150 5 784

Current liabilities 39 154 39 810
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Notes
2014

$’000
2013*
$’000

Trade and other payables 18 4 506 14 826
Financial liabilities 19 – 1 639
Current portion of borrowings 16 34 082 22 695
Taxation – 167
Provisions 17 566 483

Disposal group liabilities held for sale 13 21 385 –

Total equity and liabilities 212 211 233 156

NAV (US cents per share) 88.77 122.96

NTAV (US cents per share) 43.49 74.90

* Restated.

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2014

Notes
2014

$’000
2013

$’000

Revenue 21 31 956 29 287
Other operating expenses and income (25 515) (25 376)
Depreciation and amortisation (10 882) (10 001)
Investment income 22 4 7
Finance costs 23 (916) (1 269)

Loss before taxation 24 (5 353) (7 352)
Taxation 25 – –

Loss for the year from continuing operations (5 353) (7 352)
Discontinued operations 26 (10 829) (2 800)

Loss for the year (16 182) (10 152)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (12 933) (9 736)
Non-controlling interest (3 249) (416)

(16 182) (10 152)

Earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 27.1 (9.56) (7.46)

Continuing operations (3.96) (5.63)
Discontinued operations (5.60) (1.83)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 27.2 (9.56) (7.46)

Continuing operations (3.96) (5.63)
Discontinued operations (5.60) (1.83)

* Restated.
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Statements of other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2014

Group
2014

$’000
2013*
$’000

Loss for the year (16 182) (10 152)
Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences (2 050) 341

Total comprehensive loss for the year (18 232) (9 811)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (18 572) (10 264)
Non-controlling interest 340 453

(18 232) (9 811)

Headline loss per share (cents) * (5.62) (7.03)
– Continuing operations (3.96) (7.82)
– Discontinued operations (1.66) (0.79)
Diluted headline loss per share (cents) * (5.62) (7.03)
– Continuing operations (3.96) (7.82)
– Discontinued operations (1.66) (0.79)

* Restated.

Statements of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2014

Note

Share 
capital

$’000

Common
control
reserve

$’000

Other
reserves

$’000

Accumu-
lated

losses
$’000

Non-
controlling

interest
$’000

Total
$’000

GROUP
Balance at 31 March 2012 130 939 2 583 1 551 (14 709) 22 951 143 315
Share capital and premium
Shares issued 14 35 263 – – – – 35 263
Current operations
Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) – – (528) (9 736) 453 (9 811)
Effects of changes in 
holding – – – (329) 5 759 5 430
Acquisition of subsidiaries – (6 392) – – (1 493) (7 885)

Balance at 31 March 2013 166 202 (3 809) 1 023 (24 774) 27 670 166 312
Current operations
Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) – – (5 639) (12 933) 340 (18 232)
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – 864 864
Effects of changes in 
holding – – – – (3 242) (3 242)
Capital reductions and 
dividends – – – – (180) (180)

Balance at 31 March 2014 166 202 (3 809) (4 616) (37 707) 25 452 145 522
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Statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2014

Group

Notes
2014

$’000
2013

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities 10 717 1 625

Cash generated by operations 28.1 5 623 1 045
Investment income 1 011 1 170
Changes in working capital 28.2 5 473 (158)
Cash generated by operating activities 12 108 2 057
Finance costs (1 036) (1 516)
Taxation (paid) received 28.3 (175) 1 084
Dividends paid (180) –

Cash flows from investing activities 334 (12 497)

Business combinations 28.4 – (691)
Investment in:
– Subsidiary companies (1 819) –
– Associated companies and joint ventures – (6 100)
– Other (404) (5 106)
Dividends received – 9 190
Short-term loans advanced (10) 22
Decrease in long-term receivables (247) (2 006)
Proceeds on disposal of investments 10 489 4 654
Intangible assets
– Additions (4 353) (3 790)
– Disposals 202 –
Property, plant and equipment
– Additions (3 524) (8 670)

Cash flows from financing activities 7 290 15 768

Change in non-controlling interest – 4 626
Long-term funding repaid (24 821) (1 640)
Long-term funding raised 32 110 12 782

Cash and cash equivalents
Movements 18 341 4 896
At beginning of year 32 996 28 069
Foreign exchange difference (2 492) 31

At end of year 28.5 48 845 32 996

1.	 ACCOUNTING POLICES

This summary of the principal accounting policies of the Montauk Holdings Limited group is presented to assist with 
the evaluation of the annual financial statements.

(a)	 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, 
the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation to fair value of investment properties and certain financial instruments as described in the 
accounting policies below. The accounting policies are consistent with that applied in the previous year.

(b)	 Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the board.
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(c)	 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial information of the subsidiaries, associated entities 
and joint ventures.

(i)	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The group 
controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Where 
the group’s interest in subsidiaries is less than 100%, the share attributable to outside shareholders is 
reflected in non-controlling interests. Subsidiaries are included in the financial statements from the date 
control commences until the date control ceases.

The group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Control is presumed to exist when the group owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more than 
half of the voting power of an entity unless, in exceptional circumstances, it can be clearly demonstrated 
that such ownership does not constitute control. Control also exists where the group has the ability to 
direct or dominate decision-making in an entity, regardless of whether this power is actually exercised.

The company records its investment in subsidiaries at cost less any impairment charges. These interests 
include any intergroup loans receivable, which represent by nature a further investment in the subsidiary.

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(ii)	 Transactions and non-controlling interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the 
group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and 
the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains 
or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests and direct costs incurred in respect of transactions with 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(iii)	 Associates and joint ventures

The group recognises its share of associates’ and joint ventures’ results in profit or loss, after accounting 
for interest, tax and non-controlling interests.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and 
are initially recognised at cost.

The carrying amount of the group’s investment in associates and joint ventures includes goodwill (net of 
any accumulated impairment loss) recognised on acquisition.

The group’s share of its associates’ and joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in 
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition reserve movements is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are recognised against the carrying amount of the 
investment. When the group’s share of losses in an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its 
interest in the associate or joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate 
or joint venture.

Some of the group’s associates and joint ventures have accounting reference dates other than 31 March. 
These are equity accounted using management prepared information on a basis coterminous with the 
group’s reporting date.
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Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the group’s interest in the associates and joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Associates’ 
and joint ventures’ accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the group.

(d)	 Foreign exchange
(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars which is the group’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances
The financial statements for each group company have been prepared on the basis that transactions in 
foreign currencies are recorded in their functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date 
of the transaction. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date with the resultant translation differences being 
recognised in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equity investments 
classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(iii)	 Foreign subsidiaries and associates – translation
Once-off items in the statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows of foreign 
subsidiaries and associates expressed in currencies other than the US Dollars are translated to US Dollars 
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the day of the transaction. All other items are translated at weighted 
average rates of exchange for the relevant reporting period. Assets and liabilities of these undertakings 
are translated at closing rates of exchange at each reporting date. All translation exchange differences 
arising on the retranslation of opening net assets together with differences between the statements of 
comprehensive income translated at average and closing rates are recognised as a separate component 
of equity. For these purposes net assets include loans between group companies that form part of the 
net investment, for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future and 
is either denominated in the functional currency of the parent or the foreign entity. When a foreign 
operation is disposed of, any related exchange differences in equity are recycled through profit or loss as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the rate of exchange at reporting date.

(e)	 Business combinations
(i)	 Subsidiaries

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any minority interest in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the minority interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the 
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any minority interest in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the minority interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

(ii)	 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s 
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets (including intangibles), liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition. Where the fair value of the group’s share of identifiable 
net assets acquired exceeds the fair value of the consideration, the difference is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.
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Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis. Any 
impairment identified is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed.

Where a business combination occurs in several stages goodwill will be recognised on the transaction 
that results in the group obtaining control of the subsidiary. Goodwill, or gain on bargain purchase, will be 
measured as the difference between the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and the sum of 
the consideration paid, the non-controlling interest and the fair value of any previous interest held.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash 
generating units is in accordance with the basis on which the businesses are managed and according to 
the differing risk and reward profiles.

(iii)	 Common control transactions
Acquisitions of subsidiaries which do not result in a change of control of the subsidiaries are accounted 
for as common control transactions. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s interest 
in the carrying value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired entity, is carried as a non-
distributable reserve in the consolidated results.

(f )	 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent costs are 
included in the asset’s carrying value or recognised as a separate asset as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the specific asset will flow to the group and the cost can be 
measured reliably. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

Assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date.

(i)	 Depreciation
No depreciation is provided on freehold land or assets in the course of construction. In respect of all 
other property, plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis at rates calculated 
to write off the cost or valuation, less the estimated residual value of each asset over its expected useful 
life as follows:

Freehold buildings and infrastructure 10 – 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings Period of the lease
Other equipment and vehicles 3 – 10 years
Plant and machinery 5 – 12½ years

(ii)	 Profit or loss on disposal
The profit or loss on the disposal of an asset is the difference between the disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset.

(iii)	 Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Direct financing costs incurred, before tax, on major capital projects during the period of development 
or construction that necessarily take a substantial period of time to be developed for their intended use 
are capitalised up to the time of completion of the project.

(g)	 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Cost is usually 
determined as the amount paid by the group.

Amortisation is recognised together with depreciation in profit or loss.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortised but are subject to annual reviews for impairment.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic 
lives, and only tested for impairment where there is a triggering event. The directors’ assessment of the useful 
life of intangible assets is based on the nature of the asset acquired, the durability of the products to which the 
asset attaches and the expected future impact of competition on the business.

(i)	 Licences
Radio licences are initially recognised at cost. Analogue licences are renewable for a minimal cost every 
five years under provisions within the Broadcasting Services Act, The Directors understand that the 
revocation of a commercial radio licence has never happened in Australia and have no reason to believe 
that the licences have a finite life. As a result ration broadcasting licences have been assessed to have 
indefinite useful lives. Accordingly they are not amortised and are tested for impairment annually or 
whenever there is an indication that the carrying value may be impaired, and are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.
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(ii)	 Trademarks
Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. Trademarks have definite useful lives and are carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the 
cost of trademarks over their estimated useful lives.

(iii)	 Customer contracts
These contracts represent a guaranteed source of income over the life of the contract for the purchase 
of processed gas. The contract is amortised over a 15-year period on a straight-line method.

(iv)	 Distribution rights
Distribution rights represent multi-territory and multiplatform programming rights that the group is able 
to on-sell to other broadcasters. Distribution rights are initially recognised at cost. Distribution rights are 
amortised over the products’ economic life-cycle which is determined on a pro-rate basis of the individual 
titles total cost based on the territory and broadcast platform for which the distribution rights have been 
on sold.

Distribution rights are amortised on a straight-line basis.

Distribution rights are tested for impairment annually until they are brought into use.

(v)	 Gas rights
Gas rights with finite lives are amortised over their estimated useful economic life as follows:

Units of production method of depletion over gas rights term

(vi)	 Interconnection
The interconnect intangible asset is the exclusive right to utilise an interconnection line between the 
operating plant and a utility substation to transmit produced electricity. Included in that right is full 
maintenance provided on this line by the utility.

(h)	 Financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs (transaction costs are not included on initial recognition for financial instruments carried at fair value 
through profit or loss).

Financial assets consist of cash, equity instruments, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset, 
or a contractual right to exchange financial instruments with another entity on potentially favourable terms. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or have 
been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are recognised when there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial 
asset, or to exchange financial instruments with another entity on potentially unfavourable terms. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is discharged, cancelled or expired.

If a legally enforceable right exists to set off recognised amounts of financial assets and liabilities and there is an 
intention to settle net, the relevant financial assets and liabilities are offset.

Interest costs are recognised using the effective interest method. Premiums or discounts arising from the 
difference between the net proceeds of financial instruments purchased or issued and the amounts receivable 
or repayable at maturity are included in the effective interest calculation and taken to net interest payable over 
the life of the instrument.

(i)	 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are non-derivative financial assets held for trading 
and/or designated by the entity upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term or if so designated by management.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value though profit or 
loss” category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within other losses/gains – net, 
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the group’s right to receive payments is 
established.

(ii)	 Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
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(iii)	 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets (trade and other receivables), except 
for maturities of greater than 12 months after the statement of financial position date which are classified 
as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less 
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the terms of 
the receivables.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable 
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
provision account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
recognised in profit or loss as bad debts recovered.

(iv)	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Non-derivative financial liabilities are measured initially and subsequently at fair value by discounting the 
future cash payments using the market rate applicable at statement of financial position date. The gain or 
loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(v)	 Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method; any difference between proceeds 
and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings.

(vi)	 Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category 
or not classified as any of the above. Investments in this category are included in non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the statement of financial position 
date.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as 
available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost 
of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences on 
monetary securities are recognised in profit and loss; translation differences on non-monetary securities 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary 
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. When securities 
classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in 
other comprehensive income are included in profit or loss as gains and losses from investment securities. 
Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest rate method is recognised in 
profit or loss as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised 
in profit or loss as part of other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established.

(vii)	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at cost and include cash in hand, bank deposits, other short-term 
highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are included within cash and cash equivalents on the face of the statement of cash flows 
as they form an integral part of the group’s cash management.

Fair value

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is 
not active, and for unlisted securities, the group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These 
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially 
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making maximum use of market inputs 
and relying as little as possible on entity specific inputs.

Impairment
The group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-
for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered 
as an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial 



JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 34 – Proof 4  

34

assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed 
from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity 
instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. Impairment testing of trade receivables is described 
in note (i) above.

The Company records its investment in subsidiaries at cost less any impairment charges.

(i)	 Derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
Derivative financial assets and financial liabilities are financial instruments whose value changes in response to 
an underlying variable, require little or no initial investment and are settled in the future.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities are analysed between current and non-current assets and liabilities 
on the face of the statement of financial position, depending on when they are expected to mature. For 
derivatives that are not designated to have a hedging relationship, all fair value movements thereon are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. See note (h) for the group’s accounting policy on hedge accounting.

(j)	 Hedge accounting
The derivative instruments used by the group, which are used solely for hedging purposes (i.e. to offset foreign 
exchange and interest rate risks), comprise interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. Such 
derivative instruments are used to alter the risk profile of an existing underlying exposure of the group in line 
with the group’s risk management policies.

Derivatives are initially recorded at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the hedging relationship.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the group is required to document the relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument. The group is also required to document and demonstrate that the 
relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument will be highly effective. This effectiveness 
test is re-performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge has remained and will continue to remain 
highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either: hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or 
a firm commitment (fair value hedge); hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or commitment (cash 
flow hedge); or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a noncurrent asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current 
asset or liability.

(i)	 Fair value hedges
Fair value hedges comprise derivative financial instruments designated in a hedging relationship to manage 
the group’s interest rate risk to which the fair value of certain assets and liabilities are exposed.

Changes in the fair value of the derivative offset the relevant changes in the fair value of the underlying 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk in profit or loss in the period incurred.

Gains or losses on fair value hedges that are regarded as highly effective are recognised in profit or loss 
together with the gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

(ii)	 Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges comprise derivative financial instruments designated in a hedging relationship to manage 
currency or interest rate risk to which the cash flows of certain liabilities are exposed.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is designated and qualifies for 
hedge accounting is recognised in other comprehensive income. The ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to profit or loss in the period 
in which the hedged item affects profit or loss.

However, where a forecasted transaction results in a non-financial asset or liability, the accumulated fair 
value movements previously deferred in other comprehensive income are included in the initial cost of 
the asset or liability.

(iii)	 Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations comprise either foreign currency borrowings or 
derivatives (typically forward exchange contracts) designated in a hedging relationship.

Gains or losses on hedging instruments that are regarded as highly effective are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. These largely offset foreign currency gains or losses arising on the translation of 
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net investments that are recorded in equity, in the foreign currency translation reserve. The ineffective 
portion of gains or losses on hedging instruments is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are only recycled to profit or loss upon disposal of the net investment.

Where a derivative ceases to meet the criteria of being a hedging instrument or the underlying exposure 
which it is hedging is sold, matures or is extinguished, hedge accounting is discontinued. A similar treatment 
is applied where the hedge is of a future transaction and that transaction is no longer likely to occur.

Certain derivative instruments, whilst providing effective economic hedges under the group’s policies, are 
not designated as hedges. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify or 
have not been designated as hedges are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

(k)	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 
average or first in-first-out method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but 
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the 
business, less selling expenses. Provision is made for slow moving goods and obsolete materials are written off.

(l)	 Programme rights
Programme rights are stated at the contracted costs incurred in obtaining the rights to transmit the programmes, 
less the cost of programmes transmitted or written off during the year.

(m)	 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are included in the share premium account. Where 
subsidiaries hold shares in the holding company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid to acquire these 
shares is deducted from total shareholders’ equity as treasury shares. Where such shares are subsequently 
sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders’ equity. Shares issued to or held by 
share incentive plans within the group are treated as treasury shares until such time when participants pay for 
and take delivery of such shares.

(n)	 Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Trade 
payables are analysed between current and non-current liabilities on the face of the statement of financial 
position, depending on when the obligation to settle will be realised.

(o)	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost and include accrued interest and prepaid interest. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months from the 
reporting date.

(p)	 Impairment
This policy covers all assets except inventories (see note i), financial assets (see note g), non-current assets 
classified as held for sale (see note o). Impairment reviews are performed by comparing the carrying value of 
the asset to its recoverable amount, being the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The fair 
value less costs to sell is considered to be the amount that could be obtained on disposal of the asset. The 
value in use of the asset is determined by discounting, at a market based pre-tax discount rate, the expected 
future cash flows resulting from its continued use, including those arising from its final disposal. When the 
carrying values of non-current assets are written down by any impairment amount, the loss is recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from the cash flows of other assets the 
group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (‘‘CGU’’) to which the asset belongs.

For the purpose of conducting impairment reviews, CGUs are considered to be the lowest level of groups of 
assets and liabilities that have separately identifiable cash flows. They also include those assets and liabilities 
directly involved in producing the income and a suitable proportion of those used to produce more than one 
income stream.

When an impairment is recognised, the impairment loss is held firstly against any specifically impaired assets of 
the CGU, then recognised against goodwill balances. Any remaining loss is set against the remaining intangible 
and tangible assets on a pro rata basis.

Should circumstances or events change and give rise to a reversal of a previous impairment loss, the reversal 
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it occurs and the carrying value of the asset is increased. 
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The increase in the carrying value of the asset is restricted to the amount that it would have been had the 
original impairment not occurred. Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are irreversible.

Intangible non-current assets with an indefinite life and goodwill are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment if circumstances or events change to indicate that the 
carrying value may not be fully recoverable.

(q)	 Non-current assets held for sale
Items classified as non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.

Such assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continued use. This condition is regarded as met only when a sale is highly probable, the 
asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition and management is committed 
to the sale which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from date 
of classification.

(r)	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, whether legal or constructive, as a result of a past 
event for which it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Such provisions are calculated on a discounted 
basis where the effect is material to the original undiscounted provision. The carrying amount of the provision 
increases in each period to reflect the passage of time and the unwinding of the discount and the movement 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income within interest costs.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses however provisions are recognised for onerous 
contracts where a contract is expected to be loss making (and not merely less profitable than expected).

(i)	 Provision for rehabilitation
Long-term environmental obligations are based on the group’s environmental plans, in compliance with 
current regulatory requirements. Provision is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost 
of restoring the environmental disturbance that has occurred up to the reporting date. The estimated cost 
of rehabilitation is reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for changes in legislation or technology. 
Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the sale of assets or from plant clean up 
at closure, in view of the uncertainty of estimating the potential future proceeds.

Expenditure on plant and equipment for pollution control is capitalised and depreciated over the useful 
lives of the assets whilst the cost of ongoing current programmes to prevent and control pollution and to 
rehabilitate the environment is charged against income as incurred

(s)	 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

(i)	 Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

–– The group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
–– The group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
–– The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
–– It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the group; and
–– The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

(ii)	 Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract.

(iii)	 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired the 
group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows at the original effective interest rate, and continuing to unwind the discount as interest income.

(iv)	 Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the relevant agreements and is 
included in other income.

(v)	 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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(t)	 Leases
(i)	 The group is the lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the 
finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included 
in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) 
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ii)	 The group is the lessor
The group recognises finance lease receivables on its statement of financial position. Finance income is 
recognised based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment 
in the finance lease. Assets leased to third parties under operating leases are included in property, plant 
and equipment in the statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives on a basis consistent with similar owned property, plant and equipment. Rental income (net of any 
incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(u)	 Income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current, deferred tax and secondary tax on companies. Tax is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax expense is based on the results for the 
period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. The group’s liability for current taxation 
is calculated using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided in full using the statement of financial position liability method, in respect of all 
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the 
consolidated financial statements, except where the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised where the carrying value of an asset is greater than its tax base, or 
where the carrying value of a liability is less than its tax base. Deferred tax is recognised in full on temporary 
differences arising from investment in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of 
all available evidence, it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences (including carried forward tax losses) can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse based on tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax is measured on 
a non-discounted basis.

(v)	 Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to equity holders of the parent are recognised as a liability in the group’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim 
dividends are recognised when approved by the board. Dividends declared after the reporting date are not 
recognised, as there is no present obligation at the reporting date.

(w)	 Employee benefits
(i)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal, or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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(ii)	 Bonus plans
The group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there 
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. An accrual is maintained for the appropriate 
proportion of the expected bonuses which would become payable at the year-end.

(x)	 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated on the weighted average number of shares in issue, net of treasury shares, in 
respect of the year and is based on profit attributable to ordinary shareholders. Headline earnings per share 
is calculated in terms of the requirements set out in Circular 02/2015 issued by SAICA.

2.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Principles of critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(i)	 The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(ii)	 Estimated impairment of goodwill
The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 1(e). The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on 
value in use calculations.

These calculations require the use of estimates – see note 3 for details.

(iii)	 Income taxes
The group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining 
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The group recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact 
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(iv)	 Deferred tax assets
Management has applied a probability analysis to determine future taxable income against which calculated tax 
losses will be utilised. A similar probability analysis was applied in determining the amount of STC credits that 
would be utilised in the foreseeable future.

(v)	 Property, plant and equipment, excluding land
Changes in business landscape or technical innovations may impact the useful lives and estimated residual values 
of these assets. Similar assets are grouped together, but residual values and useful lives may vary significantly 
between individual assets in a category. Management reviews assets’ residual values, useful lives and related 
depreciation charges annually at each reporting date.

(vi)	 Inventory valuation
The group manufactures and trades with perishable products. Judgement is required to determine the saleability 
of these products. In addition, a significant portion of the group’s matured wines and brandies have a lengthy 
production cycle. The saleability and valuation of work-in-progress inventories are dependent on market and 
consumer trends. Stringent quality control, detailed sales planning and forecasting and procurement planning are 
key factors in ensuring that the valuation of the group’s inventory is reasonable.

3.	 NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING STANDARDS 
ISSUED THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

3.1	 Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that are 
mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2013 or later periods which the 
group has not early adopted:
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Standard Details of amendment
Annual periods beginning on or 
after

•	 IFRS 3 

•	 Business 
Combinations

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 
Cycle: amendments to the 
measurement requirements for all 
contingent consideration assets and 
liabilities including those accounted 
for under IFRS 9.

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 
Cycle: amendments to the scope 
paragraph for the formation of a joint 
arrangement

The group will apply the IFRS 3 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2015

The group will apply the IFRS 3 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2015

IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 
Cycle: amendments to some 
disclosure requirements regarding the 
judgements made by management in 
applying the aggregation criteria, as 
well as those to certain reconciliations

The group will apply the IFRS 8 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2015

IFRS 9 Financial 
Statements

The IASB aims to replace IAS 39 
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’ (IAS 39) in its 
entirety with IFRS 9. To date, the 
chapters dealing with recognition, 
classification, measurement, de-
recognition of financial assets and 
liabilities and hedge accounting have 
been issued. Chapters dealing with 
impairment methodology are still 
being developed. Further, in 
November 2011, the IASB tentatively 
decided to consider making limited 
modifications to IFRS 9’s financial 
asset classification model to address 
application issues.

The group will apply the IFRS 9 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2018

IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Investments

IFRS 10 exception to the principle 
that all subsidiaries must be 
consolidated. Entities meeting the 
definition of ‘Investment Entities’ 
must be accounted for at fair value 
under IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, or 
IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

The group will apply the IFRS 10 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

IFRS 11 Joint 
arrangements

Amendments to provide guidance on 
the accounting for the acquisition of 
an interest in a joint operation in 
which the activity of the joint 
operation constitutes a business.

The group will apply the IFRS 11 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2016

IFRS 12 Disclosure of 
Interest in Other Entities

New disclosures required for 
Investment Entities (as defined in 
IFRS 10).

The group will apply the IFRS 12 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014
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Standard Details of amendment
Annual periods beginning on or 
after

IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 
Cycle: amendments to clarify the 
measurement requirements for those 
short-term receivables and payables.

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 
Cycle: amendments to clarify that the 
portfolio exception applies to all 
contracts within the scope of, and 
accounted for in accordance with 
IAS 39 or IFRS 9.

The group will apply the IFRS 13 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

The group will apply the IFRS 13 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

IAS 24 Related Party 
Disclosures

Clarification of the definition of a 
related party.

The group will apply the IAS 24 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

IAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets

The amendment to IAS 36 clarifies 
the required disclosures of information 
about the recoverable amount of 
impaired assets if that amount is 
based on fair value less costs of 
disposal

The group will apply the IAS 36 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

IAS 38 Intangible Assets Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 
Cycle: Amendments to the revaluation 
method – proportionate restatement 
of accumulated depreciation.

Amendments present a rebuttable 
presumption that a revenue-based 
amortisation method for intangible 
assets is inappropriate except in two 
limited circumstances, as well as 
provide guidance in the application of 
the diminishing balance method for 
intangible assets.

The group will apply the IAS 38 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2014

The group will apply the IAS 38 
amendments from annual periods 
beginning 1 April 2016

The directors have considered the impact of the standards and do not expect a material impact on the 
financial statements of the group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Cost
Land and buildings 4 997 5 648
Leasehold improvements 10 10
Other equipment and vehicles 75 093 74 032
Plant and machinery 370 215

80 470 79 905

Accumulated depreciation
Land and buildings (2 265) (1 903)
Other equipment and vehicles (33 406) (27 852)
Plant and machinery (145) (111)

(35 816) (29 866)

Carrying value
Land and buildings 2 732 3 745
Leasehold improvements 10 10
Other equipment and vehicles 41 687 46 180
Plant and machinery 225 104

44 654 50 039

Movements in property, plant and equipment
Balance at beginning of year
Land and buildings 3 745 4 107
Leasehold improvements 10 –
Other equipment and vehicles 46 180 42 709
Plant and machinery 104 75

50 039 46 891

Additions
Leasehold improvements – 10
Other equipment and vehicles 3 317 9 258
Plant and machinery 169 52

3 486 9 320

Business combinations
Other equipment and vehicles 898 127

Transfer to disposal group assets held for sale (refer to note 13)
Other equipment and vehicles (1 351) –

Disposals and transfers
Land and buildings (651) –
Other equipment and vehicles (223) –
Plant and machinery (14) –

(888) –

Depreciation
Land and buildings (362) (362)
Other equipment and vehicles (7 086) (5 910)
Plant and machinery (34) (23)

(7 482) (6 295)



JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 42 – Proof 4  

42

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Currency translation
Other equipment and vehicles (48) (4)

Balances at end of year
Land and buildings 2 732 3 745
Leasehold improvements 10 10
Other equipment and vehicles 41 687 46 180
Plant and machinery 225 104

44 654 50 039

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

Licences Trademarks
Distribution 

rights
Customer 
contracts

Emission 
allowances

Gas 
rights

Inter-
connection Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2. INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS
Group 2014
Carrying value at 
beginning of year 10 443 671 11 352 9 239 3 055 19 705 – 54 465
Additions – 123 4 230 – – 42 825 5 220
Foreign exchange 
differences (1 208) – 708 – – – – (500)
Disposals – – (202) – – – – (202)
Amortisation – (75) (3 617) (1 378) – (2 419) (6) (7 495)
Transfers to disposal 
group held for sale 	
(refer to note 13) (9 235) (719) (12 471) – – – – (22 425)

Carrying value at end 	
of year – – – 7 861 3 055 17 328 819 29 063

Cost – – – 17 241 3 055 35 493 825 56 614
Accumulated amortisation – – – (9 380) – (18 165) (6) (27 551)

– – – 7 861 3 055 17 328 819 29 063

Group 2013
Carrying value at 
beginning of year – – – 10 620 5 005 22 120 – 37 745
Additions – 90 3 789 – – 2 – 3 881
Business combinations* 10 443 581 11 703 – – – – 22 727
Foreign exchange 
differences – – (568) – – – – (568)
Disposals – – – – (1 950) – – (1 950)
Amortisation – – (3 572) (1 381) – (2 417) – (7 370)

Carrying value at end	
 of year 10 443 671 11 352 9 239 3 055 19 705 – 54 465

Cost 10 443 671 15 841 17 241 3 055 35 451 – 82 702
Accumulated amortisation – – (4 489) (8 002) – (15 746) – (28 237)

10 443 671 11 352 9 239 3 055 19 705 – 54 465
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The amortisation expense has been included in the line item depreciation and amortisation in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

The following useful lives were used in the calculation of amortisation:

Licences **
Trademarks 10 years
Distribution rights ****
Customer contracts 15 years
Emission allowances ***
Gas rights 12 – 20 years
Interconnection 10 years

*	 Restated

**	 Radio licences are initially recognised at cost. Analogue licences are renewable for a minimal cost every five 
years under provisions within the Broadcasting Services Act. The Directors understand that the revocation 
of a commercial radio licence has never happened in Australia and have no reason to believe that the licences 
have a finite life. As a result radio broadcasting licences have been assessed to have indefinite useful lives. 
Accordingly they are not amortised and are tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication 
that the carrying value may be impaired, and are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

	 The recoverable amount of the commercial radio broadcasting CGU at 31 March 2014 was determined based 
on a value in use discounted cash flow model. The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on 
the 2015 financial budget extended over the subsequent four-year period (“Forecast period”) using estimated 
growth rates. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using growth rates that do not exceed 
the long term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates. Assumptions used in the value 
in use calculation include a pre-tax discount rate of 14.75%, revenue and operating cost growth rates of 4% 
and 3% respectively and a long-term growth rate of 2.5%.

	 At 31 March 2013 the recoverable amount of the commercial radio broadcasting CGU was assessed with 
regard to the acquisition price and competitive bid process leading up to the acquisition, which occurred during 
March 2013.

***	 Emission allowances consist of credits that need to be applied to Nitrous Oxide (N2O) emissions from internal 
combustion engines. These engines emit levels of N2O for which specific allowances are required in certain 
states of the United States of America. Certain assets acquired through the acquisition of a subsidiary by 
Montauk Energy Holdings LLC qualify for N2O allowances. These have been recognised at fair value at date of 
acquisition and will be amortised only when brought into use.

****	 Distribution rights represent multi-territory and multi-platform programming rights that the group is able to 
on sell to other broadcasters. These rights are amortised over the estimated useful life, based on the territory 
and platform for which the respective rights have been on sold.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

3. GOODWILL
Arising on acquisition of shares in subsidiaries – 10 537

Reconciliation of carrying value
At beginning of year 10 537 –

– Cost 10 537 –
– Accumulated impairment – –

Business combinations – 10 537

Business combinations as previously stated – 3 814
Restatement (refer note 34) – 6 723

Effects of foreign exchange differences (778) –
Transfer to disposal group assets held for sale (refer to note 13) (9 759) –

– 10 537

At end of year

– Cost – 10 537
– Accumulated impairment – –

Goodwill relates to the group’s media interests. The value of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated has been 
determined based on value in use calculations using management generated cash flow projections. The following 
were the principal assumptions, based on past experience, that were used to calculate the net present value of those 
CGUs.

Pre-tax discount rates	 14.75%
Number of years:	 5 years
Cost growth rate	 2.5% – 4%

4.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Set out below are the associates which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the reporting entity. The 
entities listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the reporting 
entity. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of 
ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Name of associates

Place of business/
country of 
incorporation Principal activity 2014 2013

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Da Vinci Media GmbH Germany Media 33% 33% – 4 284
The Africa Channel Limited United Kingdom Media 47% 47% – 4 093
Other associates** – 1 934

– 10 311

Directors valuation of unlisted associates 10 311

** �A list of these is available for inspection at the company’s 
registered office.

Group’s share of associates:
– Contingent commitments – –
– Capital commitments – –

The investments in associates have been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. Refer to 	
note 13.
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5.	 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

Group’s interest Group carrying value

Name of joint venture

Place of 
business/
country of 
incorporation Principal activity 2014 2013

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Baycorp Holdings Proprietary Limited New Zealand
Debt collection 
service provider 53% 53% – 38 639

Cost – 43 682
Accumulated impairment – (5 043)

– 38 639

Due to both operational and competitive 
reasons, the investment in Baycorp 
Holdings Proprietary Limited was tested 
for impairment in the prior year, resulting 
in the carrying value being impaired by 
$5.04 million. No impairment was 
required in the current year.
The summarised financial information in 
respect of the group’s principal joint 
ventures is set out below:
Current assets 54 180 59 656
Non-current assets 76 850 95 389
Current liabilities 13 344 10 297
Non-current liabilities 47 633 56 508
Income 55 713 42 687
Expenses (45 115) (38 425)
Group’s share of joint ventures’ (losses) 
profits for the year (5 591) 2 249
Group’s share of joint ventures’ other 
comprehensive income for the year 1 564 338
Dividends received – 8 908
Group’s share of joint ventures’ capital 
commitments – –

The investment in joint venture has been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. Refer to 	
note 13.

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

6. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Available for sale investments held at fair value
Other 203 311

Fair value through profit and loss
Foreign exchange contract 104 6 991

Financial assets held at amortised cost

Other loans – 5 470

307 12 772

Current 307 7 025
Non-current – 5 747

307 12 772

Fair value of derivative f inancial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss
The fair value of derivatives was based upon market valuations. The net market value of all forward exchange 
contracts at year end was calculated by comparing the forward exchange contracted rates to the equivalent year 
end market foreign exchange rates.



JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 46 – Proof 4  

46

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

7. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Shares at cost less impairment 191 857 166 620
Amounts owing by subsidiary companies 10 044 11 529

201 901 178 149
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies – –

201 901 178 149

These loans are interest free and have no set repayment dates.

Interests in subsidiaries
Set out below are the group's principal subsidiaries at year end. Unless otherwise stated, the subsidiaries have 
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the group. The country of incorporation 
or registration is also their principal place of business.

Name of entity
Principal 
activities

Place of 
business/
Country of 
incorporation

% exercisable 
voting rights

% of effective 
interest held by 

the group

% of effective 
interest held by 

the non-controlling 
interests (NCI)

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Montauk Energy Corporation 
LLC Natural gas

United States of 
America 90 90 90 90 10 10

Oceania Capital Partners 
Limited

Investment 
holding Australia 68 68 68 68 32 32

Longkloof Limited Media Channel Islands 80 80 80 80 20 20
Crystal Brook Distribution 
Proprietary Limited Media South Africa 80 80 80 80 20 20

Signif icant restrictions

There are no significant statutory, contractual or regulatory restrictions on the group’s ability to access or use the 
assets and settle the liabilities of the group.

There are no contractual arrangements in place for the provision of financial support to any of the principal subsidiaries, 
nor has there been any financial or other support provided to these entities during the reporting period. There is no 
current intention of providing financial or other support to these entities.

Non-controlling interests

Set out below is summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (NCI) that 
are material to the group. The amounts disclosed for each subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.
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Oceania Capital Partners 
Limited

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Summarised statement of financial position
Non-current assets 46 098 62 030
Current assets 32 840 25 868
Non-current liabilities (4 771) (109)
Current liabilities (1 225) (1 470)

Net assets 72 943 86 319
Accumulated non-controlling interests 23 803 28 139
Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 8 350 1 948
Loss for the year (4 518) (3 246)
Other comprehensive income 1 099 234
Total comprehensive (loss) for the year (3 418) (3 011)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests (1 445) (249)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests – –
Summarised cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 178 (1 367)
Cash flows from investing activities 9 117 (14 085)
Cash flows from financing activities 4 946 11 222
Full details of subsidiary companies are provided in Annexure A.

8. DEFERRED TAX
Movements in deferred taxation
At beginning of year 94 –
Provisions and accruals 1 9
Assessed losses 1 31
Other (4) 54
Transfer to disposal group assets held for sale (92) –

At end of year – 94

Analysis of deferred taxation
Provisions and accruals – 9
Assessed losses – 31
Other – 54

– 94

Composition of deferred taxation
Deferred taxation assets – 94
Deferred taxation liabilities – –

– 94

The deferred tax balances have been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. Refer to note 13.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

9. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES
Prepayments 18 109
Letter of credit 1 532 1 293
Other loans 136 37
These loans are due within 1 to 6 years and bear interest at rates ranging from 
0% to 5% per annum.
Less: Current portion – –

1 686 1 439

Fair value of non-current receivables
The fair value of non-current receivables approximates the carrying value as 
market related rates of interest are charged on these outstanding amounts. 
There were no impairment provisions on non-current receivable financial assets 
during the current or prior years.

10. INVENTORIES
Finished goods – 300
Consumables and spares 728 761

728 1 061

Certain inventory balances have been transferred to disposal group assets held 
for sale at year end. Refer to note 13.

11. PROGRAMME RIGHTS
Television programmes
– International – 1 075

Reconciliation of carrying value
At beginning of year 1 075 1 366
Amortised through other operating expenses (127) (291)
Transfer to disposal group assets held for sale (refer to note 13) (948) –

At end of year – 1 075
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 3 252 9 065
Other receivables 700 10 630
Provision for impairment of trade receivables – –

3 952 19 695

Fair value of trade receivables
Trade and other receivables 3 952 19 695

The carrying value approximates fair value because of the short period to 
maturity of these instruments.

Trade receivables neither past due nor impaired

The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired is assessed on an ongoing basis for individual debtors and based on 
repayment history. No individual customer represents more than 10% of the 
Group’s trade receivables.

Collateral
The Group holds no collateral over the trade receivables which can be sold or 
repledged to a third party.

Trade receivables past due but not impaired
At 31 March 2014, trade receivables of $ nil (2013: $0.17 million) were past due 
but not impaired. These relate mainly to a number of customers for whom 
there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows:
30 to 60 days – 28
60 to 90 days – 28
More than 90 days – 120

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in 
the last year.

Impairment of trade receivables
At 31 March 2014, trade receivables of $ nil (2013: $ nil) were impaired. 
Impaired trade receivables relate to debtors that have been handed over to 
attorneys for collection and debtors that have been outstanding for more than 
one year.

Other receivables past due but not impaired
At 31 March 2014, other receivables of $ nil (2013: $ nil) were past due but not 
impaired.

Impairment of other receivables
At 31 March 2014, other receivables of $ nil (2013: $ nil) were impaired.

For both trade and other receivables the creation and release of provision for 
impaired receivables have been included in other operating expenses and 
income in the statement of comprehensive income. Amounts charged to the 
provision account are written off when there is no expectation of recovery.

The carrying amounts of the group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in 
the following currencies:

Australian Dollar – 2 459
SA Rand – 972
US Dollar 3 952 16 264

3 952 19 695

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable as shown above.

Certain trade and other receivables balances have been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. 
Refer to note 13.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

13. DISPOSAL GROUP ASSETS/LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD 
FOR SALE
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 123 080 –
Liabilities associated with the non-current assets held for sale (21 385) –

101 695 –

13.1 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the 
company’s board of directors to dispose of the group’s interest in HCI 
Investments Australia Proprietary Limited, subject to the receipt of the 
necessary regulatory approvals.

Assets and liabilities associated with HCI Investments Australia 
Proprietary Limited classified as held for sale included in Media

Property, plant and equipment 439 –
Goodwill 5 945 –
Intangible assets 9 235 –
Investments in joint ventures 30 148 –
Other financial assets 517 –
Deferred taxation 52 –
Trade and other receivables 1 151 –
Cash and cash equivalents 32 803 –
Borrowings (4 676) –
Trade and other payables (867) –
Current portion of borrowings (275) –
Taxation (198) –

74 274 –

Refer to note 26.1 for details of operations related to the above assets 
and liabilities that have been classified as discontinued.

13.2 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the 
company’s board of directors to dispose of the group’s interest in 
Longkloof Limited, subject to the receipt of the necessary regulatory 
approvals.

Assets and liabilities associated with Longkloof Limited classif ied as held for 
sale included in Media

Property, plant and equipment 893 –
Goodwill 3 814 –
Intangible assets 13 190 –
Investments in associates 8 796 –
Deferred taxation 32 –
Inventories 12 –
Programme rights 948 –
Other financial assets 1 761 –
Trade and other receivables 4 839 –
Cash and cash equivalents 6 905 –
Trade and other payables (5 581) –
Current portion of borrowings (9 137) –
Taxation (71) –

26 401 –

Refer to note 26.2 for details of operations related to the above assets and liabilities that have been classified 
as discontinued.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

13.3 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the 
company’s board of directors to dispose of the group’s interest in Crystal 
Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited, subject to the receipt of the 
necessary regulatory approvals.

Assets and liabilities associated with Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary 
Limited classif ied as held for sale included in Media

Property, plant and equipment 19 –
Deferred taxation 8 –
Inventories 216 –
Trade and other receivables 962 –
Cash and cash equivalents 364 –
Trade and other payables (519) –
Taxation (19) –

1 031 –

Refer to note 26.3 for details of operations related to the above assets 
and liabilities that have been classified as discontinued.

13.4 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the 
company’s board of directors to dispose of the group’s interest in 
Deepkloof Limited, subject to the receipt of the necessary regulatory 
approvals.

Assets and liabilities associated with Deepkloof Limited classif ied as held for 
sale included in Other

Cash and cash equivalents 32 –
Trade and other payables (43) –

(11) –

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

14. ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

Ordinary shares of no par value 200 000 200 000 – –

Issued

In issue in company 135 256 135 256 166 202 166 202

Details of the issued share capital and share premium and changes during the current and prior year are as follows:

Number 
of shares

Share
capital

’000 $’000

In issue at 31 March 2012 98 123 130 939

Shares issued 37 133 35 263

In issue at 31 March 2013 135 256 166 202

In issue at 31 March 2014 135 256 166 202

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next annual general meeting.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

15. OTHER RESERVES
FCTR at beginning of year 1 023 1 551
Exchange differences on translation of foreign subsidiaries (5 639) (528)

At end of year (4 616) 1 023

16. BORROWINGS
Bank borrowings – 25 000
Other borrowings 34 082 18 945

34 082 43 945

Current portion of borrowings (34 082) (22 695)

– 21 250

Secured – 25 000
Unsecured 34 082 18 945

34 082 43 945

The Group was exposed to a guarantee for the borrowings of a subsidiary, 
Johnnic Holdings USA LLC, under a put option granted by the ultimate holding 
company, Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (HCI), to FirstRand Bank 
Limited. Under the guarantee, HCI was jointly and severably liable for the 
facility of US$25 000 000. This facility was repaid during the current year.
Fixed rates 34 082 11 900
Floating rates – 32 045

34 082 43 945

Maturity of these borrowings is as follows:
Due within 1 year 34 082 22 695
Due within 2 – 5 years – 21 250
Due after 5 years – –

34 082 43 945

Analysis by currency
South African Rand 34 082 11 900
United States Dollar – 32 045

34 082 43 945

Weighted average effective interest rates – 4.18%

At 31 March 2014, the carrying value of borrowings approximates their fair value as market related rates have been 
applied to discount the instruments.

Certain borrowings balances have been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. Refer to 	
note 13.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

17. PROVISIONS
Rehabilitation liability
Balance at beginning of year 5 784 5 259
Raised during the year 366 525

Balance at end of year 6 150 5 784

Leave pay
Balance at beginning of year 144 152
Raised during the year 276 154
Utilised (254) (162)

Balance at end of year 166 144

Staff bonuses
Balance at beginning of year 339 329
Raised during the year 457 340
Utilised (396) (330)

Balance at end of year 400 339

Total provisions 6 716 6 267

Non-current 6 150 5 784
Current 566 483

6 716 6 267

Rehabilitation liability
Rehabilitation obligations are based on the Group’s environmental plans, in 
compliance with current regulatory requirements. Provision is made based on 
the net present value of the rehabilitation of landfill gas sites.

Leave pay
This provision is raised in respect of accumulated annual leave days accrued to 
employees as the Group has a present legal obligation as a result of past 
services provided by the employee. The timing of the settlement is uncertain 
given the nature of the provision.

Staff bonuses
This provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past services provided by the employee. The timing and 
extent of claims settled remain uncertain until settlement occurs.

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 333 525
Other payables 4 173 14 301

4 506 14 826

Fair value of trade and other payables

The carrying value approximates fair value because of the short period to settlement of these obligations.

Certain trade and other payables balances have been transferred to disposal group assets held for sale at year end. 
Refer to note 13.
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange contracts – 1 639

Current portion – 1 639
Non-current portion – –

– 1 639

Fair value of derivative f inancial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss

The fair value of derivatives was based upon market valuations. The net market 
value of all foreign exchange contracts at year end was calculated by comparing 
the foreign exchange contracted rates to the equivalent year end market 
foreign exchange rates.

20. COMMITMENTS
Operating lease arrangements where the Group is a lessee:
Future leasing charges:
– Payable within one year 164 2 348
– Payable within two to five years 160 1 771

– Payable after five years 212 –

536 4 119

21. REVENUE

Sale of goods 31 956 29 943

22. INVESTMENT INCOME
Interest

Bank 4 7

23. FINANCE COSTS

Interest (916) (1 269)

24. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION
The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:
Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit fees – current year 127 132
– Other services 5 5
Administrative fees 1 858 243
Consultancy fees 333 34
Operating lease charges
– Premises 186 130
– Plant and equipment 8 65
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 (212)
Gain/(loss) on derivative instrument (1 743) 1 929
Secretarial fees 15 –
Staff costs 3 588 3 126
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25. TAXATION
Current – –

Deferred – –

– –

Reconciliation of tax rate % %
Normal tax rate 28 28
Capital losses and non-deductible expenses (123) (43)
Non-taxable income including share of associates income 8 9
Prior year charges 45 –

Differential tax rates – CGT and foreign 42 6

Effective rate – –

26. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 429 123

Losses for the year from discontinued operations (11 258) (2 923)

(10 829) (2 800)

26.1 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the 
company’s board of directors to sell the group’s interest in HCI 
Investments Australia Proprietary Limited, subject to the receipt of the 
necessary regulatory approvals

The results of these operations have therefore been classified as 
discontinued operations for the group.

Loss from discontinued operations relating to HCI Investments Australia 
Proprietary Limited
Revenue 6 711 755
Operating and other costs (7 703) (3 792)
Share of (loss)/profit of joint venture (5 625) 3 795
Fair value adjustments of investments 923 585
Impairment of investment – (5 043)
Net finance costs 583 944

Profit(loss) before taxation (5 111) (2 756)

Taxation 316 1 174

(4 795) (1 582)

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash flows from operating activities 178 (1 353)
Cash flows from investing activities 10 057 (7 836)
Cash flows from financing activities 4 946 4 974

15 181 (4 215)

Refer to note 13.1 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above discontinued operation that have 
been classified as held for sale.

26.2	 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the company’s board of directors to sell the 
group’s interest in Longkloof Limited, subject to the receipt of the necessary regulatory approvals.

	 The results of these operations have therefore been classified as discontinued operations for the group.
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Group

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Loss from discontinued operations relating to Longkloof Limited
Revenue 8 847 6 750
Operating and other costs (12 298) (8 057)
Share of losses of associated companies (815) (1 155)
Investment surplus – 1 109
Impairment of assets (2 520) –
Fair value adjustments of investments 175 –
Net finance costs 176 109

Loss before taxation (6 435) (1 244)
Taxation (18) (79)

(6 453) (1 323)

Cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash flows from operating activities (684) 1 254
Cash flows from investing activities 289 5 579
Cash flows from financing activities 2 107 (1 640)

1 712 5 193

Refer to note 13.2 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above 
discontinued operation that have been classified as held for sale.

26.3 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the company’s 
board of directors to sell the group’s interest in Crystal Brook Distribution 
Proprietary Limited, subject to the receipt of the necessary regulatory approvals.

The results of these operations have therefore been classified as discontinued 
operations for the group.

Loss from discontinued operations relating to Crystal Brook Distribution 
Proprietary Limited
Revenue 1 710 1 282
Operating costs (1 120) (1 101)
Net finance costs 6 1

Profit before tax 596 182
Taxation (167) (59)

429 123

Cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash flows from operating activities 176 (33)
Cash flows from investing activities (56) 356
Cash flows from financing activities – –

120 323

Refer to note 13.3 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above discontinued operation that have been 
classified as held for sale.
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26.4 During the year ended 31 March 2014 a decision was made by the company’s board of directors to sell the 
group’s interest in Deepkloof Limited, subject to the receipt of the necessary regulatory approval.

The results of these operations have therefore been classified as discontinued operations for the group.

Group

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Loss from discontinued operations relating to Deepkloof Limited
Revenue – –
Operating costs (10) (18)

Loss before tax (10) (18)
Taxation – –

(10) (18)

Cash flows from discontinued operations
Cash flows from operating activities (9) (20)
Cash flows from investing activities 38 22
Cash flows from financing activities – –

29 2

Refer to note 13.4 for details of assets and liabilities relating to the above 
discontinued operation that have been classified as held for sale.

27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

27.1 Earnings per share as presented on the statement of comprehensive 
income is based on the weighted average number of 135 256 156 ordinary 
shares in issue (2013: 130 474 601).

27.2 Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of 
135 256 156 ordinary shares in issue (2013: 130 474 601).

Used in calculation of earnings per share 135 256 130 475

Used in calculation of diluted earnings per share 135 256 130 475

27.3 Headline loss per share (cents) * (5.62) (7.03)

– Continuing operations (3.96) (7.82)
– Discontinued operations (1.66) (0.79)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents) * (5.62) (7.03)

– Continuing operations (3.96) (7.82)
– Discontinued operations (1.66) (0.79)

2014 2013
Gross Net Gross Net
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Reconciliation of headline earnings:
Earnings/(loss) attributable to equity 
holders of the parent (12 933) (9 736)
IAS 16 loss (profit) on disposal of plant 
and equipment 3 3 (212) (212)
IAS 28 impairment of associates and 
joint ventures 2 520 2 016 5 043 3 414
IAS 38 profit on disposal of intangible 
assets – – (2 643) (2 643)
Remeasurements included in equity 
accounted earnings 4 911 3 325 – –

Headline earnings/(loss) attributable to 
equity holders of the parent (7 589) (10 064)
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

28. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

28.1 Cash generated by operations
Profit/(loss) after taxation (16 182) (10 152)
Taxation (131) (1 037)
Depreciation and amortisation 14 975 10 092
Put amortisation – 2 131
Loss (profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 (2 855)
Impairment of goodwill and investments 2 520 5 043
Equity accounted profits 6 440 (2 640)
Forex translation – (2 036)
Fair value adjustments (1 098) (585)
Investment income (1 007) (1 254)
Finance costs 1 154 1 462
Investment surplus – (1 109)
Movement in provisions 466 414
Other non-cash items (1 517) 3 571

5 623 1 045

28.2 Changes in working capital
Inventory 69 (62)
Programming rights 127 291
Trade and other receivables 8 449 (3 947)
Trade and other payables (3 172) 3 560

5 473 (158)

28.3 Taxation paid
Unpaid at beginning of year (131) 1 252
Charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (348) (264)
Business combinations – (44)
Foreign exchange difference 15 9
Unpaid at end of year 289 131

(175) 1 084

28.4 Business combinations
Acquisitions
Property, plant and equipment – (529)
Intangible assets – (22 688)
Deferred tax asset – (73)
Investment in associates – (5 366)
Other non-current assets – (3 814)
Trade and other receivables – (4 526)
Programming rights – (1 366)
Financial assets – (4 959)
Inventories – (272)
Cash and cash equivalents – (17 891)
Deferred tax liability – 16
Borrowings – 16 985
Other non-current liabilities – 68
Trade and other payables – 4 750
Taxation payable – 44

– (39 621)
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Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Non-controlling interest – (1 190)
Goodwill – (6 642)
Common control reserve – (6 392)
Shares issued – 35 263
Cash and cash equivalents at date of acquisition – 17 891

Net cash outflow – (691)

28.5 Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and deposits 8 741 32 996
Cash in disposal group assets held for sale 40 104 –

48 845 32 996

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value 
due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.
Certain cash and cash equivalent balances have been transferred to 
disposal group assets held for sale at year end. Refer to note 13

29. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The following are the summarised results for the various reportable operating 
segments:

Continuing operations Revenue
Natural gas 31 956 29 287

Discontinued operations
Media and broadcasting 17 268 8 787

Continuing operations
Segment Result 
(loss before tax)

Natural gas (5 353) (7 352)

Segment result 
(loss after tax)

Discontinued operations
Media and broadcasting (4 471) (1 200)
Other (6 358) (1 600)

(10 829) (2 800)

Assets
Media and broadcasting 60 510 62 088
Natural gas 89 131 101 652
Other 62 570 69 416

212 211 233 156

Fixed asset additions
Media and broadcasting* 325 240
Natural gas 3 161 9 080

3 486 9 320



JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 60 – Proof 4  

60

Amounts applicable to associates and joint ventures included above:

2014 2013

Equity 
accounted 

earnings*

Investment 
in associates 

and joint 
ventures***

Equity 
accounted 

earnings*

Investment 
in associates 

and joint 
ventures***

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other (6 440) 38 944 2 640 48 950

Impairments*

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Other (2 520) (5 043)

The natural gas segment operates in the 
United States of America.

Group income is attributable to the 
following geographical areas:

Australia* 6 711 755
Europe and United Kingdom* 7 001 6 620
South Africa* 1 710 1 282
United States of America 31 956 29 287
Other* 1 846 130

49 224 38 074

Non-current assets** of the Group are held 
in the following geographical areas:

Australia*** 79 721 78 771
South Africa*** 1 561 1 602
United Kingdom*** 35 878 34 993
United States of America 87 170 99 904
Other*** 3 519 3 581

207 849 218 851

* Included in discontinued operations.
** Excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
*** Included in disposal group assets held for sale in 2014.

Group
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

30.1 Key management compensation was paid as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employees benefits 3 966 2 226
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
31.1 Subsidiaries acquired

Principal 
activity

Date of 
acquisition

Proportion of 
shares acquired

Year ended 31 March 2013
Media and broadcasting

Sunshine Coast Broadcasters Proprietary Limited
Radio 

broadcasting 15/03/2013 100%
The acquisition was facilitated through the purchase of 
the company’s issued share capital. This subsidiary was 
acquired to expand the Group’s business in the radio 
broadcasting sector within which this entity operates.

Longkloof Limited

Broadcasting 
content 

distributor 01/05/2012 80%
The acquisition was facilitated through the purchase of 
the company’s issued share capital. This subsidiary was 
acquired to expand the Group’s business in the 
broadcasting sector within which this entity operates.

Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited

Broadcasting 
content 

distributor 26/09/2012 80%
The acquisition was facilitated through the purchase of 
the company’s issued share capital. This subsidiary was 
acquired to expand the Group’s business in the 
broadcasting sector within which this entity operates.

31.2 Cost of acquisition, net cash outflow on acquisition and analysis of assets and liabilities 
acquired.

Year ended 31 March 2013

Media and broadcasting

Sunshine Coast Broadcasters Proprietary Limited

All of the shares in the capital of Sunshine Coast Broadcasters Proprietary Limited were acquired on 
15 March 2013.

As the acquisition took place close to the 31 March 2013 year end the information required to account for the 
acquisition was incomplete. The initial accounting for the acquisition was therefore determined provisionally in 
the 31 March 2013 financial report. In accordance with IFRS 3: Business Combinations adjustments to initial 
provisional accounting for the acquisition disclosed in the 31 March 2013 annual financial statements have been 
recognised as if the final accounting for the business combination had been completed at the acquisition date. 
Comparative information for 31 March 2013 has therefore been adjusted.

Longkloof Limited

The parent entity, Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (HCI), paid the purchase consideration for the 
acquisition of the shares in Longkloof Limited on behalf of the company, resulting in a loan payable by the 
company to HCI. The company subsequently issued shares to HCI in settlement of the loan.

Crystal Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited

A fellow subsidiary of the company paid the purchase consideration for the acquisition of shares in Crystal 
Brook Distribution Proprietary Limited on behalf of the company, resulting in a loan payable by the company 
to the fellow subsidiary.
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Media and broadcasting
Reported Adjustments Restated

2013 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 636 (104) 532
Intangible assets 29 223 (6 334) 22 889
Deferred tax asset 73 – 73
Investment in associates 5 366 – 5 366
Other non-current assets 3 814 – 3 814
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 4 526 – 4 526
Programming rights 1 366 – 1 366
Financial assets 4 959 – 4 959
Inventories 272 – 272
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability (16) – (16)
Borrowings (16 985) – (16 985)
Other non-current liabilities (68) – (68)
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (4 750) – (4 750)
Taxation payable (44) – (44)

28 372 (6 438) 21 934
Non-controlling interests 1 190 – 1 190
Goodwill on acquisition – 6 438 6 438
Common control reserve 6 392 – 6 392
Shares issued (35 263) – (35 263)
Loan raised with fellow subsidiary (418) – (418)
Cost of acquisitions 273 – 273
Cash balances acquired 17 891 – 17 891
Net cash outflow on acquisition 18 164 – 18 164

31.3	 Goodwill arising on acquisition

The purchase price of the businesses acquired includes amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, 
revenue growth and the assembled workforce of these businesses. These benefits are not recognised separately 
from goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

31.4	 Impact of the acquisitions on the results of the group

The businesses acquired during the year contributed revenues of $8 million and net profit before tax of 
$4,4 million to the group for the periods from dates of effective control to 31 March 2013. Had the acquisitions 
been effective on 1 April 2012 the contribution to revenue would have been $14,9 million and net profits of 
$5,3 million would have been the contribution to profit before tax.
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32.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

32.1	 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the treasury departments of the major operating units under policies 
approved by their boards of directors. Their boards provide principles for overall risk management, as well 
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, use of derivative 
financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity. Credit risk is also 
managed at an entity level for trade receivables.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect 
to the US Dollar and the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from exposure in the foreign operations due to 
trading transactions in currencies other than the functional currency. The Group secures its debt denominated 
in US Dollar in the offshore entities with assets and cash flows of those offshore operations (where the 
functional currency of these entities is US Dollars). As a result no forward cover contracts is required on this 
debt. Foreign currency import and exports within the Group are managed using forward exchange contracts.

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Average rate Reporting date
2014 2013 2014 2013

Australian Dollar 0.93 1.03 0.92 1.04
South African Rand 0.10 0.12 0.09 0.11

A 10% strengthening of the functional currency against the following currencies at 31 March would have 
increased/(decreased) profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2013.

Profit/(loss)
2014 2013

Australian Dollar 28 83
South African Rand 44 10

A 10% weakening of the functional currency against the above currencies at 31 March would have had the 
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other 
variables remain constant.
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2014 2013
$’000 $’000

The following carrying amounts were exposed to foreign 
currency exchange risk:
Trade and other receivables
Australian Dollar 1 150 2 459
South African Rand 961 972
Other financial assets
Australian dollar 517 11 052
Cash and cash equivalents
Australian dollar 32 803 20 064
South African Rand 364 293
Trade and other payables
Australian dollar (867) (1 625)
South African Rand (538) (875)
Borrowings
Australian dollar (4 951) –

South African Rand (34 082) (11 900)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s primary interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. It is exposed to a lesser 
extent to interest rate changes on loans to non-controlling interest of fellow subsidiary companies. 
Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at fixed 
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 March the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Carrying amount
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 307 12 772
Financial liabilities – (1 639)

307 11 133

Fair value sensitivity analysis for f ixed rate instruments:

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased equity by $nil 	
(2013: $nil).

Other price risk

The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk other than the market price of natural gas. In 
order to mitigate the risks associated with the fluctuations in natural gas prices from time to time 
the group enters short term future exchange contract to fix gas prices for portions of expected 
production volumes. A change of 1% in the gas price would have increased/decreased post-tax profits 
by $0.1 million (2013: $0.07 million). The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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32.1.2	 Credit risk

The group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Overall credit risk is managed at entity level. 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to the Group’s customer base, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only Group 
Audit Committee approved parties are accepted. The group has policies that limit the amount of 
credit exposure to any financial institution. Trade receivables comprise a large, widespread customer 
base and the group performs ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. 
The utilisation of credit limits are regularly monitored. Refer to note 16 for further credit risk analysis 
in respect of trade and other receivables. No credit limits were exceeded during the year under 
review, and management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

The table below shows the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of asset:

Carrying amount
2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Foreign exchange contracts 104 6 991
Receivables 5 638 21 134
Cash and cash equivalents 48 845 32 996

54 587 61 121

32.1.3	 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to 
close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the treasury 
functions of the major subsidiaries aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit 
lines available. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity headroom on the basis 
of expected cash flow and the resultant borrowing position compared to available credit facilities. 
This process is performed during each financial year end for five years into the future in terms of the 
Group’s long term planning process.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position date to the 
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Less than 
1 year

Between 2 
and 5 years

Over 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2014
Bank and other borrowings 34 082 – –
Trade and other payables 4 507 – –

38 589 – –

At 31 March 2013
Bank and other borrowings 22 695 21 250 –
Foreign exchange contracts 1 639 – –
Trade and other payables 14 826 – –

39 160 21 250 –

Defaults and breaches on loans

There were no breaches or defaults on the repayment of any loans payable during the current or 
prior year.
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32.2	 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and provide optimal returns for shareholders through maintaining an optimal capital structure. The 
Group defines capital as equity funding provided by shareholders and debt funding from external parties. 
Shareholder funding comprises permanent paid up capital, share premium, revenue reserves and other 
reserves being revaluation reserves (if any) and foreign currency translation reserves together with loans from 
shareholders. The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The board of directors monitors the cost of 
capital, which the Group defines as the weighted average cost of capital, taking into account the Group’s 
internally calculated cost of equity (shareholder funding) and long term cost of debt assumptions. The board 
seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings 
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound equity position. The Group’s debt capacity and optimal 
gearing levels are determined by the cash flow profile of the Group and are measured through applicable 
ratios such as net debt to EBITDA and interest cover. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
in the absence of significant investment opportunities, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. There were no changes in the Group’s 
approach to capital management during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject 
to externally imposed capital requirements.

32.3	 Fair value estimation

IFRS 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy:

Level 1 –	Quoted prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 –	�Inputs used, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 –	Fair value determined by valuation that uses inputs that are not based on observable market data
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The following items are measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group 2014
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Foreign exchange contract 104 – – 104
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other – – 203 203

Total assets 104 – 203 307

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group 2013
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Foreign exchange contract 6 991 – – 6 991
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other – – 311 311

Total assets 6 991 – 311 7 302

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss
Foreign exchange contracts 1 639 – – 1 639

Total liabilities 1 639 – – 1 639

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the year:

Other
$’000

Group 2014
Assets
Carrying value at beginning of year 311
Disposals (108)

Carrying value at end of year 203

Group 2013
Assets
Carrying value at beginning of year 90
Additions 221

Carrying value at end of year 311
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33.	 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the reporting date the following significant events have occurred:

–	 Deepkloof Limited (“Deepkloof”), a subsidiary of the group, concluded an agreement during July 2014 to subscribe 
for 13% of the ordinary share capital of Impact Oil and Gas Limited (“IOG”), an oil and gas exploration company 
based in the United Kingdom, for a total of $25 million. An agreement was also concluded with a third party during 
September 2014 whereby Deepkloof purchased a further 7% of the ordinary share capital of IOG for $8 million.

–	 The group’s 80% interest in Longkloof Limited was sold to a fellow subsidiary of the company, Sabido Investments 
Proprietary Limited. In terms of the transaction, the share capital was sold for a nominal amount of $80 and loans 
owing of $36.7 million were repaid to Deepkloof Limited.

Other than as previously detailed in this report, the directors are not aware of any event or circumstance occurring 
between the reporting date and the date of this report that materially affects the results of the group or company 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 or the financial position at that date.

34.	 PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT

Media and broadcasting

As the acquisition of Sunshine Coast Broadcasters Proprietary Limited took place close to the 31 March 2013 year 
end, the information required to account for the acquisition was incomplete. The initial accounting for the acquisition 
was therefore determined provisionally in the 31 March 2013 financial report. In accordance with IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations adjustments to initial provisional accounting for the acquisition disclosed in the 31 March 2013 annual 
financial statements have been recognised as if the final accounting for the business combination had been completed 
at the acquisition date. Comparative information for 31 March 2013 has therefore been adjusted.

The effect of the restatement on the annual financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2013 is as follows:

Previously 
reported

Media and 
broadcasting 
restatement Restated

2013 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000

Statement of financial position

Non-current assets 115 041 – 115 041

Property, plant and equipment 50 148 (109) 50 039
Goodwill 3 814 6 723 10 537
Intangible assets 61 079 (6 614) 54 465
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Annexure A

INTEREST IN PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

2014 2013
Issued share 

capital
Effective 
interest Shares Loans Shares Loans

$’000 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Shares and loans stated at cost less 
impairment
Investment holding companies
Deepkloof Limited (3) * 100 71 202 10 043 71 202 11 501
HCI Investments Australia 
Proprietary Limited (2) * 100 ** – ** –
Oceania Capital Partners Limited (2) 224 841 68 ** – ** –
EON Broadcasting Proprietary 
Limited 6 461 95 ** – ** –
Media and broadcasting
Crystal Brook Distribution 
Proprietary Limited (4) * 80 418 – 418 28
Longkloof Limited (3) * 80 ** – ** –
Sunshine Coast Broadcasters 
Proprietary Limited (2) 346 95 ** – ** –
Natural gas
Johnnic Holdings USA LLC (1) 179 779 100 120 237 – 95 000 –

* Under $1 000 191 857 10 043 166 620 10 043

** Indirectly held.

*** Directly and indirectly held.

Subsidiaries whose financial position or results are not material are excluded.

Details of excluded subsidiaries are available from the company secretary.

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Profits and losses of consolidated 
subsidiary companies attributable 
to the company

Aggregate profits after tax 429 3 950
Aggregate losses after tax (18 777) (13 007)

Subsidiaries are incorporated in various countries. Detail shown below.
(1) USA
(2) Australia
(3) Channel Islands
(4) South Africa
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 75 940 155 997 75 403

Property, plant and equipment 46 129 48 031 44 654
Goodwill – 9 819 –
Interest in associates and joint ventures – 39 179 –
Other financial assets – 5 378 –
Intangibles 27 144 51 649 29 063
Deferred taxation – 110 –
Long-term receivables 2 667 1 831 1 686

Current assets 16 762 54 217 13 728

Other 6 701 13 722 4 987
Bank balances and deposits 10 061 40 495 8 741

Non-current assets held for sale 125 677 – 123 080

Total assets 218 379 210 214 212 211

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 151 243 150 115 145 522

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 124 347 124 273 120 070
Non-controlling interest 26 896 25 842 25 452

Non-current liabilities 6 374 27 260 6 150

Long-term borrowings – 21 250 –
Other 6 374 6 010 6 150

Current liabilities 55 197 32 839 39 154
Non-current liabilities held for sale 5 565 – 21 385

Total equity and liabilities 218 379 210 214 212 211

Net asset carrying value per share (cents) 92 92 89
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

Revenue 15 478 16 325 31 956
Expenses (13 643) (12 108) (25 515)

EBITDA 1 835 4 217 6 441
Depreciation and amortisation (5 602) (5 349) (10 882)

Operating profit (3 767) (1 132) (4 441)
Investment income – 1 4
Finance costs (22) (658) (916)

Profit before taxation (3 789) (1 789) (5 353)
Taxation – – –

Profit for the year from continuing operations (3 789) (1 789) (5 353)
Discontinued operations 6 662 (8 148) (10 829)

Profit for the year 2 873 (9 937) (16 182)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 3 376 (7 347) (12 933)
Non-controlling interest (503) (2 590) (3 249)

2 873 (9 937) (16 182)

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

Profit for the year 2 873 (9 937) (16 182)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences (1 685) (7 124) (2 050)

Total comprehensive income 1 188 (17 061) (18 232)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company 1 786 (14 527) (18 572)
Non-controlling interest (597) (2 534) 340

1 188 (17 061) (18 232)

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 145 522 166 312 166 312
Current operations
Total comprehensive income 1 188 (17 061) (18 232)
Acquisition of subsidiary – 864 864
Disposal of subsidiaries 4 533 – –
Effects of changes in holding – – (3 242)
Dividends – – (180)

Balance at end of year 151 243 150 115 145 522
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities (2 524) 7 598 10 717
Cash flows from investing activities (11 288) 328 334
Cash flows from financing activities 18 647 1 829 7 290

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 4 835 9 755 18 341
Cash and cash equivalents
At beginning of year 48 845 32 996 32 996
Foreign exchange differences (1 443) (2 256) (2 492)

At end of year 52 237 40 495 48 845
Cash in disposal groups held for sale 42 175 – 40 104
Bank balances and deposits 10 062 40 495 8 741

Cash and cash equivalents 52 237 40 495 48 845

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Unaudited
30 Sep

2014
$’000

Unaudited
30 Sep

2013
$’000

Audited
31 Mar

2014
$’000

Revenue
Natural gas 15 478 16 325 31 956
EBITDA
Natural gas 1 835 4 217 6 441
Profit before tax
Natural gas (3 789) (1 789) (5 353)
Headline earnings
Media and broadcasting 30 151 (653)
Natural gas (3 789) (1 789) (5 350)
Other (299) (5 709) (1 586)

Total (4 058) (7 347) (7 589)



JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 76 – Proof 4  

76

NOTES

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The results for the six months ended 30 September 2014 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)  the disclosure requirements of IAS 34, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee, the requirements of the South African Companies Act, 2008, and the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited. The accounting policies applied by the group in the preparation of these condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements are consistent with those applied by the group in its consolidated financial statements as at and for the 
year ended 31 March 2014. As required by the JSE Limited Listings Requirements, the group reports headline earnings in 
accordance with Circular 2/2013: Headline Earnings as issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

These financial statements were prepared under the supervision of the financial director, Mr S F McClain (CPA).

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE

During the period under review, the Group disposed of its 80% interest in Longkloof Limited, which consisted of various 
offshore media investments, to Sabido Investments Proprietary Limited. The results of these operations have been included 
in discontinued operations in the current and prior periods.

Following the announcement by the Company’s parent company, Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited (“HCI”), during 
March 2014 that it will unbundle and list its natural gas interests, the Company entered into an agreement with a wholly 
owned subsidiary of HCI for the sale of its diversified investments in Australia and its 19.9% in Impact Oil and Gas. The results 
of these operations have consequently been reclassified to discontinued operations in the income statement and its assets 
and liabilities reclassified to disposal groups held for sale in the statement of financial position.

The disposal groups held for sale, as disclosed in the statement of financial position, relate to the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s remaining media and other operations, which were disposed of during October 2014 in terms of the above 
agreement.

RESULTS

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues for the six months ended 30 September 2014 contain $10.0 million related to high-btu gas and associated 
environmental attribute sales and $5.2 million related to sales of electricity and associated environmental attributes.

Expenses contain net gains of $1.3 million related to short-term gains resulting from the Company’s natural gas and electric 
commodity hedging programme.

Profit from discontinued operations includes $7.4 million investment surplus on the sale of the Group’s interest in Longkloof 
Limited.

GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND CASH FLOW

The assets and liabilities disclosed in statement of financial position, excluding disposal group assets and liabilities, consist 
mainly of items associated with the Group’s natural gas operations.

Current liabilities contain $50 million of short-term borrowings owing to HCI group companies that were settled prior to 
the Company’s unbundling by HCI.

Cash flow from operating activities contain changes in working capital of $3.9 million. Included in cash flow from investing 
activities is $36.7 million received on the sale of Longkloof, cash of $34.1 million invested in associate entities of which 
$33.3 million in Impact Oil and Gas and $6 million invested in property, plant and equipment. Net borrowings of $18.6 million 
were raised, inter alia, for the purchase of the Group’s interest in Impact Oil and Gas.

COMMENTARY

The Company’s results from its natural gas operations are heavily influenced by the current market price for natural gas and 
electricity in the markets served, the price associated with the accompanying environmental attribute and the volumes 
produced.

Overall revenue from the Company’s high-btu facilities increased 3.9% for the six months ended 30 September 2014 over 
the same period in the prior year. The average market price for natural gas in the US increased approximately 13% for the 
six months ended 30 September 2014 over the comparable six-month period in 2013. In addition, overall volumes produced 
increased 5.4% for the six months ended 30 September 2014 compared to 2013. The lower than expected overall growth 
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in revenue from the Company’s high-btu facilities for the six months ended 30 September 2014 as compared to the prior 
year is a result of the Company’s not realising revenue for the cellulosic RINs generated from the two high-btu facilities that 
have entered into contracts beginning in the quarter ended 30 September 2014 to produce RINs resulting from the high-btu 
gas being used as a vehicle fuel under the US EPA’s RFS II programme. The delay in realising the environmental attribute 
revenue from these facilities is a result of the US EPA’s delay in issuing the 2014 volume obligations under the RFS II 
programme. The volume obligations were required to be published in November of 2013, but given the developing market 
for producing cellulosic RINs the EPA has delayed issuance of the obligations until the available supply can be quantified. The 
EPA has indicated that the expectation is to publish the 2014 volume requirements in early 2015, along with the corresponding 
2015 volume requirements. The establishment of the volume obligations is expected to compel obligated parties to begin 
actively purchasing cellulosic RINs that should result in the establishment of a market price for the cellulosic RINs and will 
allow the realisation of the RINs that have been and will continue to be produced. Market price indications of cellulosic RIN 
value remain strong, however, until the volume obligations are released and the parties required to purchase the RINs begin 
transacting the realisable value of the RINs in inventory and to be produced cannot be determined.

Revenue from the Company’s electric generation facilities decreased 20% for the six months ended 30 September 2014 
over the comparable period for the prior year despite a 1.7% increase in electric production over the same period in the 
prior year. The decrease is a result of a 13% decrease in the average price realised on the Company’s electric production 
primarily due to the expiration of an above market fixed price contract one of the Company’s electric generation facilities 
on 31 May 2014 as well as a $0.5 million reduction in revenues incurred as a result of the inability to meet required minimum 
production levels under the expired contract.

Expenses increased 12.7% for the six months ended 30 September 2014 as compared to the same period in the prior year 
primarily as a result of the timing of scheduled major maintenance events. Gains recognised from the Company’s hedging 
programmes also decreased by $0.5 million for the six months ended 30 September 2014 as compared to the same period 
in 2013 due to the timing of changes experienced in natural gas pricing in the US.

In November 2014, the Company executed a purchase agreement to acquire three additional high-btu facilities. The purchase 
is contingent upon the seller satisfying certain conditions precedent to closing which is expected to occur in February of 
2015. The purchase price for the facilities is expected to be $4.6 million in cash, including closing costs and working capital 
and the assumption of existing debt of approximately $6.5 million. The acquisition is expected to contribute positively to the 
after tax profit of the Company.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORATE

During the period under review the following changes in directorate occurred:

D R Herrman Appointed 31 August 2014
S F McClain Appointed 31 August 2014
M H Ahmed Resigned 1 May 2014 Appointed 31 August 2014
M A Jacobson Appointed 31 August 2014
N B Jappie Appointed 31 August 2014
B S Raynor Appointed 31 August 2014
A van der Veen Appointed 31 August 2014
T G Govender Appointed 1 May 2014 Resigned 31 August 2014
M J A Golding Resigned 1 May 2014
J G Ncgobo Resigned 1 May 2014
V E Mphande Resigned 1 May 2014
Y Shaik Resigned 1 May 2014

DIVIDEND TO SHAREHOLDERS

The directors have resolved not to declare an interim dividend.

For and on behalf of the board of directors

J A Copelyn 	 D R Herrman	 S F McClain
Chairman 	 Chief Executive Officer 	 Chief Financial Officer

Cape Town
19 December 2014
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ANNEXURE III

SECTION 124 OF THE COMPANIES ACT

124.	COMPULSORY ACQUISITIONS AND SQUEEZE OUT

(1)	 If, within four months after the date of an Offer for the acquisition of any class of securities of a regulated 
company, that Offer has been accepted by the holders of at least 90% of that class of securities, other than 
any such securities held before the Offer by the Offeror, a related or inter-related person, or persons acting 
in concert, or a nominee or subsidiary of any such person or persons:

(a)	 within two further months, the Offeror may notify the holders of the remaining securities of the class, 
in the prescribed manner and form:

(i)	 that the Offer has been accepted to that extent; and

(ii)	 that the Offeror desires to acquire all remaining securities of that class; and

(b)	 subject to subsection (2), after giving notice in terms of paragraph (a), the Offeror is entitled, and bound, 
to acquire the securities concerned on the same terms that applied to securities whose holders accepted 
the original Offer.

(2)	 Within 30 Business Days after receiving a notice in terms of subsection (1)(a), a person may apply to a court for 
an order:

(a)	 that the Offeror is not entitled to acquire the applicant’s securities of that class; or

(b)	 imposing conditions of acquisition different from those of the original Offer.

(3)	 If an Offer to acquire the securities of a particular class has not been accepted to the extent contemplated 
in subsection (1):

(a)	 the Offeror may apply to a court for an order authorising the Offeror to give a notice contemplated 
in subsection (1)(a); and

(b)	 the court may make the order applied for, if:

(i)	 after making reasonable enquiries, the Offeror has been unable to trace one or more of the persons 
holding securities to which the Offer relates;

(ii)	 by virtue of acceptances of the original Offer, the securities that are the subject of the application, 
together with the securities held by the person or persons referred to in subparagraph (i), amount to 
not less than the minimum specified in subsection (1);

(iii)	 the consideration Offered is fair and reasonable; and

(iv)	 the court is satisfied that it is just and equitable to make the order, having regard, in particular, to the 
number of holders of securities who have been traced but who have not accepted the Offer.

(4)	 If an Offer for the acquisition of any class of securities of a regulated company has resulted in the acquisition 
by the Offeror or a nominee or subsidiary of the Offeror, or a related or inter-related person of any of them, 
individually or in aggregate, of sufficient securities of that class such that, together with any other securities of 
that class already held by that person, or those persons in aggregate, they then hold at least 90% of the securities 
of that class:

(a)	 the Offeror must notify the holders of the remaining securities of the class that the Offer has been 
accepted to that extent;

(b)	 within three months after receiving a notice in terms of paragraph (a), a person may demand that the 
Offeror acquire all of the person’s securities of the class concerned; and

(c)	 after receiving a demand in terms of paragraph (b), the Offeror is entitled, and bound, to acquire 
the securities concerned on the same terms that applied to securities whose holders accepted the 
original Offer.
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(5)	 If an Offeror has given notice in terms of subsection (1), and no order has been made in terms of subsection (3), 
or if the Offeror has received a demand in terms of subsection (4)(b):

(a)	 six weeks after the date on which the notice was given or, if an application to a court is then pending, after 
the application has been disposed of, or after the date on which the demand was received, as the case may 
be, the Offeror must:

(i)	 transmit a copy of the notice to the regulated company whose securities are the subject of the Offer, 
together with an instrument of transfer, executed on behalf of the holder of the those securities by 
any person appointed by the Offeror; and

(ii)	 pay or transfer to that company the consideration representing the price payable by the Offeror for 
the securities concerned,

(b)	 subject to the payment of prescribed fees or duties, the company must thereupon register the Offeror 
as the holder of those securities.

(6)	 An instrument of transfer contemplated in subsection (5) is not required for any securities for which a share 
warrant is for the time being outstanding.

[Subs. (6) substituted by s. 78 of Act 3/2011]

(7)	 A regulated company must deposit any consideration received under this section into a separate interest-
bearing bank account with a banking institution registered under the Banks Act and, subject to subsection (8), 
those deposits must be:

(a)	 held in trust by the company for the person entitled to the securities in respect of which the consideration 
was received; and

(b)	 paid on demand to the person contemplated in paragraph (a), with interest to the date of payment.

(8)	 If a person contemplated in subsection (7)(a) fails for more than three years to demand payment of an amount 
held in terms of that paragraph, the amount, together with any accumulated interest, must be paid to the 
benefit of the Guardian’s Fund of the Master of the High Court, to be held and dealt with in accordance with 
the rules of that Fund.

(9)	 In this section any reference to a ‘‘holder of securities who has not accepted the Offer’’ includes any holder who 
has failed or refused to transfer their securities to the Offeror in accordance with the Offer.
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Montauk Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number 2010/17811/06)
(Previously HCI International Holdings Limited and Elgabrite Proprietary Limited)

Share code: MNK        ISIN: ZAE000197455

FORM OF ACCEPTANCE, SURRENDER AND TRANSFER

The definitions commencing on page 6 of the Circular to Montauk Shareholders to which this form is attached (“Circular”) 
apply throughout this Form of Acceptance, Surrender and Transfer (“form”), unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

FOR USE BY MONTAUK SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING THEIR OWN SHARE CERTIFICATES

This form is only applicable to Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who wish to accept the 
Mandatory Offer as set out in the Circular. This form is NOT to be used by Montauk Shareholders whose shares are held 
by their CSDP or Broker as nominees in dematerialised form, who are required to instruct their CSDP or Broker if they 
wish to accept the Mandatory Offer in accordance with the terms of their agreement with the CSDP or Broker.

Each Montauk Shareholder, upon completion of this form confirms that if subjected to the laws of any jurisdiction outside 
South Africa, he has observed the laws of such relevant jurisdiction, obtained any requisite government or other consents, 
complied with all formalities needed to be observed, paid all issue, transfer and other taxes or duties due in such 
jurisdiction in connection with such acceptances and has not taken any action that would or may result in the Offeror 
being in breach of the legal or regulatory requirements of any jurisdiction in connection with the Offer or such Montauk 
Shareholder’s acceptance thereof.
NOTES AND INSTRUCTIONS:

1.	 Persons who have acquired Montauk Shares after the date of posting the Circular setting out the Mandatory Offer, can obtain copies of the Circular and this 
form from the Montauk Transfer Secretaries at the address given below.

2.	 Part A must be completed by all Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who wish to accept the Mandatory Offer.
3.	 Section 1 of Part B must be completed by all Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who are emigrants of the Common Monetary Area and 

you are referred to paragraph 1.6.1 of the Circular in this regard.
4.	 Section 2 of Part B must be completed by all other Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who are non-residents of the Common Monetary 

Area (and who are not required to complete Section 1 of Part B) and you are referred to paragraph 1.6.2 of the Circular in this regard.
5.	 No receipts will be issued for Documents of Title lodged unless specifically requested. Lodging agents are requested to prepare special transaction receipts, if 

required.
6.	 If you are in any doubt as to how to complete this form, please consult your Broker, CSDP, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.
7.	 This form must be returned to Montauk Transfer Secretaries together with your Montauk share certificates or other Documents of Title, so as to be received 

prior to 12:00 on the Closing Date of the Mandatory Offer. If your Documents of Title have been lost or destroyed, you should nevertheless return this form, 
together with a duly executed indemnity provided by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries. The Offeror may, in its sole discretion, dispense with the surrender of such 
Documents of Title upon production of satisfactory evidence that the Documents of Title have been lost or destroyed and upon provision of a suitable indemnity. 
Unless otherwise agreed by the Offeror, only indemnity forms obtained from the Montauk Transfer Secretaries (available on request) will be regarded as suitable.

8.	 Signatories may be called upon for evidence of their authority or capacity to sign this form.
9.	 Any alteration to this form must be signed in full and not initialled. Any alteration may not be accepted by the Offeror.

10.	 If this form is signed under a power of attorney, then such power of attorney or a notarially certified copy thereof must be sent with this form for noting, unless 
it has already been noted by the Montauk Transfer Secretaries.

11.	 Where the Montauk Shareholder holding its own Montauk share certificate is a company or other juristic person, a certified copy of the directors’ or members’ 
or other resolution authorising the signing of this form must be submitted together with this form, unless it has already been registered with the Montauk Transfer 
Secretaries.

12.	 Where Montauk Shares are jointly held, this form must be signed by all joint holders; however, the Offeror shall be entitled to, in its absolute discretion, accept 
signature only of that holder whose name stands first in the register in respect of such Montauk Shares.

13.	 The Offer Consideration due to a non-resident Montauk Shareholder who is an emigrant from the Common Monetary Area will be sent to the authorised dealer 
in foreign exchange controlling such non-resident shareholder’s blocked assets in terms of the South African Exchange Control Regulations and you are referred 
to paragraph 1.6 of the Circular in this regard.

14.	 Montauk Shareholders are advised to consult their professional advisers about their personal tax positions regarding the receipt of the Offer Consideration.
15.	 Montauk Shareholders are referred to the Circular for further terms and conditions applicable to the Offer and its acceptance, which Circular should be read in 

its entirety for a full appreciation thereof.
16.	 In the event of any conflict between this form and the Circular setting out the terms of the Offer, the Circular shall prevail.



COLOUR     JOB007129 – MONTAUK A5 Circular – Page 82 – Proof 4  

The Montauk Transfer Secretaries

By hand	 By mail
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited	 Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
70 Marshall Street	 PO Box 61763
Johannesburg	 Marshalltown
2001	 2107

ACCEPTANCE

Dear Sirs,

I/We hereby irrevocably accept the Mandatory Offer on the terms and conditions set out in the Circular in respect of (*) 
  Montauk Shares, held by me/us and surrender and enclose the share certificates, certified transfer 

deeds and/or other Documents of Title, in respect of my/our holding of such Montauk Shares.

I/We hereby instruct the Montauk Transfer Secretaries to register transfer of such Montauk Shares to the Offeror. I/We 
hereby appoint any one of the directors of the Offeror and Montauk Transfer Secretaries acting on his/her own as my 
attorney and agent with full power and authority on my behalf (in rem suam) to sign all documents and do all such acts as 
may be necessary or desirable for the purpose of transferring such Montauk Shares to the Offeror pursuant to the Offer.

(*insert the total number of Montauk Shares in respect of which the Mandatory Offer is being accepted, which number must not exceed the total 
number of Montauk Shares held by the Montauk Shareholder).
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PART A

To be completed by all Montauk Shareholders holding their own share certificates who wish to accept 
the Mandatory Offer

Surname/name of corporate body

First names (in full, if applicable)

Title (Mr, Mrs, Miss, Ms, etc)

Address to which the Offer Consideration should be sent (if different from registered address) 

(Preferably a PO Box)	 Postal code 

Telephone number (        ) 	 Telefax (        )

Cellphone number

Name of account holder  
(must be the same as the shareholder)

Banking details (Name of bank, branch, branch code, account 
number) 
NB: No third party account

Contact person:

Contact telephone number (        )

The Offer Consideration will be settled via an electronic payment of cash on the first Monday, or first Business Day 
thereafter if such Monday is not a Business Day, following acceptance of the Mandatory Offer, provided that the acceptance 
is received by the Transfer Secretaries before 12:00 on the Friday or last Business Day preceding the date of payment. 
Payment of the Offer Consideration in respect of acceptances received on the Closing Date, will be made on Monday, 
18 May 2015. Settlement is subject to receipt and acceptance of this form and the Documents of Title by the Montauk 
Transfer Secretaries.

In order to comply with FICA requirements, the Montauk Transfer Secretaries will be unable to record any changes of 
address or payment mandates unless a certified true copy of the undermentioned documentation is received from the 
relevant Montauk Shareholder:

(i)	 a copy of an identification document (in respect of change of address and payment mandate); and

(ii)	 a copy of a bank statement (in respect of bank mandate).

Payment to Montauk Shareholders that do not have an existing mandate with the Montauk Transfer Secretaries or who 
do not provide the Montauk Transfer Secretaries with the abovementioned document will be made by cheque, posted at 
the Montauk Shareholder’s own risk.

I/We hereby accept the Mandatory Offer upon the terms and conditions as set out in the Mandatory Offer Document 
dated 25 March 2015, and I/we surrender and enclose, in accordance with such terms and conditions, the share certificates, 
certified transfer deeds and/or other Documents of Title, details in respect of which are set out in the table below, 
in respect of my/our holding of Montauk Shares:

Name of the registered holder 
(separate form for each holder)

Certificate number(s)  
(in numerical sequence) Number of Montauk Shares

Total

I/We acknowledge that if the information set out above is incorrect or incomplete in any way, it will nevertheless irrevocably 
be deemed to indicate acceptance of the Mandatory Offer in respect of my/our entire holding of Montauk Shares.

I/We acknowledge that this acceptance of the Mandatory Offer must be lodged, together with the relevant Documents 
of Title, prior to the Closing Date of the Mandatory Offer.
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Signature of Montauk Shareholder


